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2006 Annual Report to Shareholders

To Our Shareholders:
Late in 2005, we set out on a challenging, multi-year journey to transform Unisys – to refocus our business, streamline our

operations, and reposition the company for significantly improved profitability by 2008.  We knew that 2006 would be a

year of transition as we implemented an enormous amount of change that affected every business function of our company.

Though difficult, we began to see the payoff from these changes in our financial results, which

improved through the course of the year. And with our new focus, we won leading-edge service

engagements with top-tier clients around the world.

This progress came with many difficult decisions.  In 2006 we made major changes to our U.S.

retirement plans, improved challenging business process outsourcing operations, overhauled our

global sales and marketing efforts, realigned our services delivery work force, expanded our use of

offshore services delivery resources, divested non-core assets, and significantly reduced our cost

base.  Any one or two of these represent substantial change; addressing all of them in one year

was an immense undertaking.

The progress we made in 2006 speaks to the dedication and determination of the entire Unisys team.  We asked a lot of our

employees, and they delivered for the company, our customers and our shareholders.

Our work, however, is far from done.  We have another challenging year ahead of us in 2007 as we continue the repositioning

work.  It will require the same discipline and commitment to execution.  But I am increasingly confident in the direction we are

moving, and I am excited about the future we are creating for this company. 

2006 Financial Review
Revenue for 2006 was $5.76 billion, the same as in 2005.  We would have liked to see revenue growth, but given the extent of

the changes undertaken in 2006 – including realigning our sales force – it was an accomplishment to keep revenue at the

same level as the prior year.  

Our financial results in 2006 reflected the charges we took during the year to streamline our cost base. Overall in 2006,

we recorded approximately $330 million of pre-tax restructuring charges covering about 5,600 global headcount reductions. 

Including these charges, Unisys reported a net loss for the year of $278.7 million, or 81 cents per share.  These results

included the restructuring charges as well as a pre-tax gain of $149.9 million on the sale of the company’s shares in Nihon

Unisys Limited and pre-tax pension expense of $135.5 million.

Our operating margins and profitability improved steadily during 2006 as we implemented the repositioning initiatives. By the

fourth quarter, we reported pre-tax income of $49.3 million, up 81 percent from the fourth quarter of 2005.

While it was a difficult year financially, we made great progress, and we’re encouraged by the improvements we are seeing in

our profitability.  It will take time as we transform Unisys, but we are committed to achieving the financial results that our

shareholders expect and deserve. 

Transforming Unisys
The changes we are implementing throughout Unisys – and the progress we made in 2006 – fall into three categories.  

First, we are rightsizing our cost base and significantly reducing expenses to reflect our more focused business model.  Second,

we are changing how we market, sell and deliver our solutions portfolio to improve productivity and utilization of our people and

resources.  Third, we are focused on driving profitable top-line growth by focusing our resources and investments on a handful of

high-growth markets, while divesting or de-emphasizing non-core businesses.
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Competitive Cost Structure

We made progress in 2006 in bringing our cost structure in line with our more focused business model and the competitive

realities of our business.  

To create a more competitive cost structure and reduce the volatility of pension expenses, we adopted major changes to our

U.S. retirement plans.  As of December 31, 2006, we ended the accrual of future benefits under our U.S. defined benefit

pension plans.  At the same time, we enhanced our U.S. defined contribution plan.  We expect these changes to significantly

reduce pension expenses over the coming years and create more predictable retirement-related expenses.

During 2006, we announced a total of approximately 5,600 reductions in our employee population worldwide, which we esti-

mate will yield more than $340 million in net annualized cost savings by the second half of 2007.  We realized approximately

4,900 of those reductions by the end of 2006, and we are on track to complete the remaining announced reductions during

the first half of 2007.

In addition, we greatly expanded our use of lower-cost offshore delivery resources.  We opened new sourcing and services cen-

ters in India and China and added about 1,200 new Unisys offshore resources, primarily in India.  We now have about 2,700

Unisys offshore delivery resources in India, China and Eastern Europe.  Our target is 6,000 workers – or about 20 percent of

our work force – by 2008.

Focused Sales and Delivery

We need to make sure that our sales, marketing and services delivery are tightly aligned with our targeted markets.  To that end,

in 2006 we implemented a new, account-centric sales approach to serve our top 500 customer accounts in our top 10 countries.

To increase our share of wallet among those clients, we have rebuilt our sales organization and sales culture with experienced,

dedicated teams to cultivate more strategic, long-term relationships with our top clients.  We have assigned additional sales

resources to winning business with smaller existing accounts and with promising new clients.  While we have work to do, this

effort is beginning to pay off in services order growth and a stronger, higher-quality pipeline of business.

To enhance our ability to deliver value-added solutions in our strategic growth areas, we realigned our services delivery work force.

During 2006, we pooled more than 4,000 services delivery professionals into integrated, cross-organizational teams organized

around our focused areas of growth.  These professionals continue to undergo intensive training in our strategic programs as

well as in the integrated development framework, which leverages Unisys 3D Visible Enterprise process and services. Realigning

and training our services delivery force is critical to enhancing our utilization rates and meeting demand in our target markets.  

High-Growth Markets

No company can succeed by trying to be all things to all people.  Our focused industries are financial services, communica-

tions, transportation, commercial, and public sector, including the U.S. federal government.  At Unisys, we are concentrating

our efforts and aligning our global sales and services capabilities around the high-growth markets of our five strategic programs

– outsourcing, enterprise security, open source solutions, Microsoft solutions and real-time infrastructure – where we deliver

solutions through a vertical industry approach.

In 2006 we got off to a good start in building the foundations for our growth programs.  In every one of our five strategic pro-

grams, we made progress in defining our market strategy, launching innovative solutions and winning client business.  We saw

particularly strong demand for our outsourcing and security solutions.

In outsourcing – a $370 billion market growing about 8 percent annually – we typically target mid-sized opportunities where we

can clearly differentiate ourselves from our competition and achieve a good margin by adding value for our clients.  New out-

sourcing business in 2006 was with such leading companies and public sector agencies as: the Australian Department of

Immigration and Multicultural Affairs, BSN Medical GmbH, Business Objects, the European Commission, Starbucks, the State

of Texas and Unibanco. 
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Enterprise security is a growing concern for our customers.  The market for enterprise security solutions today is about

$25 billion worldwide, and it is growing 20 percent annually.  Unisys has deep expertise in providing enterprise security

solutions using leading-edge technologies – from radio frequency identification (RFID) tags and smart cards to biometric and

fingerprint technology across the areas of identity and access management, supply chain visibility, and information and event

management.  During 2006 we won major new business with the Australian Department of Immigration and Multicultural

Affairs, the U.S. Department of Homeland Security SBInet program, U.S. Federal Bureau of Investigation, and many others.

In our technology business, we continued to shift our research and development (R&D) focus toward operating systems and

middleware solutions that help our clients create powerful, flexible enterprise server environments.  Unisys reached a series of

alliance agreements with NEC Corporation to jointly develop high-end, Intel-based servers for the two companies.  Building on that

partnership, we also announced a next-generation Unisys enterprise server architecture that will, over time, enable all of our

enterprise server lines to run on a common architecture using standard Intel chips.

To tighten our focus on high-growth markets – and to fund our cost restructuring plans – we divested non-core assets.

In 2006 we raised $378 million from the sale of our shares in Nihon Unisys Limited.  The company also sold certain assets

of its semiconductor test equipment business, and we signed an agreement to sell our media business.

Continuing Our Momentum
Our focus in 2007 is to continue our repositioning work.  We will continue to build a scalable portfolio to win in our strategic

growth segments, enhance a go-to-market approach built on an account-centric model, reduce our cost structure, and further

improve our global delivery organization and capabilities.  In other words, we plan to continue to execute the Unisys

transformation.

We are only a year into our multi-year journey, and we have a lot of work still to do.  However, I am confident that the people

of Unisys will rise to the challenge again in 2007 and continue to build the foundation for a great new future for this company

and our stakeholders.

Joseph W. McGrath

President and Chief Executive Officer 
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Business Description
Unisys is a worldwide information technology (IT) services and solutions company with more than 31,000 employees.  Our

consultants apply expertise in consulting, systems integration, outsourcing, infrastructure, and server technology to help clients

quickly and efficiently achieve secure business operations.

With 85 percent of our revenue coming from services, as well as a long heritage in providing powerful, enterprise server

technology, Unisys has the capabilities needed to help large organizations apply IT for business advantage and success.  Our con-

sultants, industry experts and infrastructure specialists work with clients to understand their business challenges and develop

integrated, secure solutions that help them achieve their business goals.  We complement these services with some of the indus-

try’s most powerful, innovative enterprise server technology capabilities.  This combination of services and technology capabilities,

along with core competencies in our strategic growth areas, allows us to provide value-added solutions that can handle an organi-

zation’s most business-critical information requirements. 

Our Services
Unisys provides end-to-end services and solutions designed to help clients improve their competitiveness and efficiency in

the global marketplace.  We design, build and manage critical IT systems and solutions for businesses and governments

around the world, helping customers create secure business operations.

Consulting and Systems Integration
Today’s information challenges are more complex and more important than ever.  From making effective use of global sourcing

strategies, to developing a secure network, to leveraging the power of new Microsoft and open source software, organizations

need IT partners who understand technology, and who have in-depth knowledge of their business and industry.

Our consultants and industry experts work with clients to evaluate their strategic challenges and provide innovative solutions to

make their businesses more competitive and cost efficient. In providing these solutions, we make use of the Unisys 3D Visible

Enterprise (3D-VE) methodology, which allows our clients to see the cause and effect relationships of strategic decisions before

they make those decisions – allowing them to implement their visions faster, and with more effective results and cost savings.

Unisys offers in-depth expertise and solutions in five global industries (see “Industries” section).  Our people combine a deep

understanding of these industries with a comprehensive services methodology, advanced program management, and extensive

knowledge of technology and software development tools. We provide clients with a single source to help them manage the

complexities of developing and implementing an enterprise-wide information strategy.

Outsourcing
As organizations worldwide focus their resources on their own core competencies, they are increasingly turning over the

management of other functions or processes to specialized service providers.  As one of the world’s leading full-service out-

sourcing providers, Unisys helps transform the operations and processes of organizations worldwide. 

Through our global support infrastructure, Unisys can handle an organization’s most demanding outsourcing requirements.  We

can manage a client’s entire information systems operation or network and desktop infrastructure.  We can also manage

specific business processes – such as payment processing, remittance processing, insurance administration, cargo manage-

ment and other functions.  And we effectively manage applications outsourcing and managed services solutions for clients

through our industry domain expertise with a focus on modernization and cost efficiencies.

Using the Unisys 3D-VE approach, our services professionals work with clients to define their needs, goals and organizational

vulnerabilities.  We then provide tailored, cost-effective outsourcing solutions that align with their business and IT goals to help

them eliminate redundancy, reduce complexity, lower costs, improve cycle times and enhance services delivery. 
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Through our infrastructure strategy and planning services, we use the Unisys 3D-VE methodology to create an architectural

blueprint for an advanced IT infrastructure that best achieves a client’s strategies and priorities.  Our consultants then work

with clients to implement this infrastructure, deploying leading-edge technologies drawn from our own real-time infrastructure

portfolio and our network of global partners and other suppliers around the world.

As part of our infrastructure services portfolio, Unisys provides a full range of security services to help clients assess their

information risks, defend against cyber attacks, and design and implement sophisticated security solutions.  In addition to

providing support and maintenance services for our own technologies, Unisys also provides lifecycle support services for a

broad network of global technology providers such as Dell, EMC and Lexmark.  Our services are delivered through a world-class

network that provides consistent levels of support and service to clients around the world.

Core Maintenance
Unisys provides support and maintenance for users of Unisys ClearPath and ES7000 lines of enterprise-class servers.  These

services are critical to ensuring the secure, continuous operation of our servers in extremely demanding, mission-critical

environments.

Our Technology
Unisys designs and develops enterprise servers and related products that operate in mission-critical, transaction-intensive

environments.  As a pioneer in large-scale computing, Unisys brings deep experience and rich technological innovation and

capabilities to the enterprise server marketplace.  Today, Unisys is providing the technologies needed by organizations to

create a “real time,” agile IT infrastructure that can dynamically allocate computing resources in real time, based on a client’s

business needs.

Enterprise Servers
Unisys provides two families of enterprise servers, built upon the same cost-effective and secure Unisys architecture.  We

focus our research and development resources on developing value-added operating system and middleware software, while

leveraging the cost efficiencies of industry-standard components from Intel, Microsoft and other providers.

Our ClearPath enterprise servers are among the world’s most powerful large-scale computer systems.  ClearPath systems inte-

grate Unisys proprietary operating systems and industry-standard software into a single operating environment, allowing clients

to run standard, off-the-shelf software applications while protecting their investment in existing applications and data.

With metered performance or “pay-for-use” capability, ClearPath servers let organizations increase or decrease performance as

business needs change, and pay only for the performance used.  The result is improved responsiveness to business dynamics

and greater financial flexibility and control. 

Our ES7000 family of enterprise servers runs standard Microsoft or Linux operating systems, along with Unisys middleware, on

an Intel-based platform.  Our ES7000 servers provide server consolidation, scalable database and large-scale application

capabilities, in the high-end Intel environment.

Because of its unique design and standards-based environment, the ES7000 can deliver enterprise-class performance at

significantly less cost than proprietary UNIX-based systems.

In 2006 Unisys announced a next-generation server architecture that will, over time, enable all the company’s enterprise server

lines to run on a common architecture using standard Intel chips.  The new architecture will be able to run up to four operating

systems simultaneously on the same mainframe-class, Intel-based environment.  To support this new architecture, Unisys

reached a series of alliance agreements with NEC Corporation to collaborate in server technology, research and development

(R&D), manufacturing, and solutions delivery.  Unisys and NEC will co-design and develop a common high-end, Intel-based

server platform for customers of both companies.
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Specialized Technology
In addition to high-end servers, Unisys offers other technologies used by organizations to handle specialized tasks in an

enterprise environment.  These technologies include payment systems, specialized financial products and semiconductor

test solutions.

Industries
Unisys delivers services and solutions to customers worldwide in financial services, communications, transportation,

commercial, and public sector, including the U.S. federal government. 

• Financial Services: Banks, insurance companies and securities firms rely on Unisys financial solutions in such areas 

as customer relationship, branch banking, payment solutions, mortgage processing and insurance administration. 

• Communications: Unisys provides solutions to the global communications industry for high-end messaging,

customer service, call centers and mobile commerce. 

• Transportation: Unisys solutions allow some 200 airlines and major railway companies worldwide to identify and 

serve customers, build customer loyalty, maximize revenue, increase cost-efficiency, increase security, and handle 

passenger identification and cargo at airports. 

• Commercial: Unisys serves the commercial market sector – including life sciences, consumer packaged goods, 

retail and industrial product firms – with solutions for supply chain management, customer relationship

management, anti-counterfeiting and theft, and other critical areas.

• Public Sector: More than 1,500 governmental agencies worldwide – including various agencies of the U.S. federal 

government – use Unisys solutions to handle security and social services, justice and public safety, public registry 

and revenue management, and other key functions.  

Our Strategic Programs
Unisys has built core competencies and focused solution offerings around these five high-growth areas:

• Enterprise security

• Outsourcing solutions

• Microsoft solutions

• Open source solutions

• Real-time infrastructure

Enterprise Security
Unisys enterprise security solutions enable organizations to see, understand and address security vulnerabilities in their

business operations.  We advise organizations on how much security is enough and deliver secure business solutions to

protect IT infrastructure and assets, manage digital identities, and track and trace goods as they move across extended

supply chains.  For our clients, visibility into their operations helps them align their security investments with risk while

achieving their business objectives and mission. 

Our Enterprise Security solutions include security advisory services, identity and access management, security information

and event management, and supply chain visibility.  

Outsourcing Solutions
Outsourcing continues to be one of the fastest-growing segments in the services market. As noted earlier, Unisys is

well-positioned to benefit from that growth, with deep expertise and dedicated solutions for business process outsourcing,

application outsourcing and managed services, IT outsourcing, and technical support and maintenance services.  Combined

with our real-time infrastructure expertise, we offer clients powerful outsourcing solutions. 

UnisysAR_06.qxd:Layout 1  2/26/07  10:49 PM  Page 6



7

Microsoft Solutions
Our alliance with Microsoft is strong and growing.  For more than a decade, Unisys has worked closely with Microsoft to

develop enterprise-class solutions on the Windows platform.  Through this alliance, we’ve become a market leader in delivering

Microsoft solutions on an enterprise scale.

Our integrated, cross-Unisys portfolio of Microsoft solutions includes Enterprise Data Solutions, Enterprise Windows

Modernization on the ES7000 server, .NET Application Development, and Communication and Collaboration.  We are focused

on managed services outsourcing, security and supply chain, and implementing new Microsoft technologies such as Unified

Communication, Vista, Office 2007, Virtualization, SQL Server Business Intelligence and 64-bit computing.  We will continue to

collaborate in joint development labs worldwide, providing clients with rapid “proof of concept” services and defining the future

of optimized Microsoft-based infrastructures. 

Open Source Solutions
Open source represents an exciting growth area for Unisys as corporations and public sector organizations recognize the

benefits that can be gained from open source, such as infrastructure cost reductions and noticeable improvements in flexibility.

This growth bodes well for Unisys as our open source solutions help clients realize more value from current and future

infrastructure, traditional software and other IT assets.  As more companies look to open and modernized IT environments as

well as “web-enabled” legacy systems through service-oriented architectures (SOA), they will look to Unisys. 

We have strong expertise in all major open source components including JBoss, MySQL, PostgreSQL, Apache, Alfresco, and

Linux; strong capabilities around SOA for existing and new applications; and a proven track record of migrating and modernizing

from mainframe and UNIX systems.  Using a non-biased, agnostic approach, Unisys integrates open source servers,

middleware, databases and commercial software (from IBM, Microsoft, Oracle and others) into an end-to-end “stack” to

support mission-critical operations.  Our specific solutions include: 

• Open architecture services

• Open modernization services and solutions 

• Open support services

Real-Time Infrastructure
Our real-time infrastructure (RTI) services and solutions provide the tools, technologies and architecture to enable clients to

have intelligent, self-managing IT infrastructures that dynamically scale with changing business needs.  RTI optimizes resources

– process and technology – to meet the changing peaks and valleys of a business’s IT environment by pooling and

distributing processing workloads on-demand.  Clients can more efficiently manage their IT environment and build real-time

infrastructure with solutions that lower their costs, increase agility, and enable business growth.

Unisys offers real-time infrastructure services and solutions in the areas of consultancy and assessment services, IT

optimization, business continuity and disaster recovery, IT services management and operations alignment, utility computing

solutions and real-time storage, virtualization solutions, business process management solutions, metering and consolidation

accelerators, and orchestration and provisioning solutions.

Our open architecture approach utilizes advanced Microsoft technology, open source components, and enabling services and

tools allowing clients to transform to a real-time environment in manageable steps.  

Our Partners
Strong alliance partnerships are a critical element in our growth strategy.  We maintain highly productive working relationships

with technology leaders – namely Cisco, Dell, EMC, IBM, Intel, Microsoft, NEC, Oracle and SAP.  We continue to expand these

partnerships through collaboration on solution development and sales delivery, as well as ongoing research on next-generation

systems and offerings.  
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Corporate Officers

Greg J. Baroni 

Senior Vice President and President, Federal Systems 
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Vice President and Treasurer 

Peter Blackmore 
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Janet Brutschea Haugen 

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
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Jack F. McHale 
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Vice President and Corporate Controller 

Nancy Straus Sundheim 

Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 

Board of Directors

J.P. Bolduc 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of JPB Enterprises Inc.;

Chief Executive Officer of J.A. Jones3
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and Engineering at the University of Michigan2,4
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Joseph W. McGrath 
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2. Compensation Committee 

3. Finance Committee 

4. Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee 
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Corporate Governance 
The Unisys Board of Directors 
The board of directors is responsible for overseeing the business and affairs of the company. 

Committees: The board of directors has a standing audit committee, compensation committee, finance committee, and

nominating and corporate governance committee.

• The Audit Committee: Assists the board in its oversight of the integrity of the company’s financial statements and its

financial reporting and disclosure practices, the soundness of its systems of internal financial and accounting controls,

the independence and qualifications of its independent registered public accounting firm, the performance of its internal

auditors and independent registered public accounting firm, the company’s compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements, and the soundness of its ethical and environmental compliance programs.

• The Compensation Committee: Oversees the compensation of the company’s executives, the company’s executive

management structure, the compensation-related policies and programs involving the company’s executive management,

and the level of benefits of officers and key employees. It also oversees the company’s diversity programs.

• The Finance Committee: Oversees the company’s financial affairs, including its capital structure, financial arrangements,

capital spending, and acquisition and disposition plans. It also oversees the management and investment of funds in the

pension, savings and welfare plans sponsored by the company. 

• The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee: Identifies and reviews candidates and recommends to the board

of directors nominees for membership on the board of directors. It also oversees the company’s corporate governance. 

Classification of Directors: The board of directors consists of 10 members, divided into three classes. One class of directors
is elected each year to hold office for a three-year term. Nine of the 10 directors are independent directors. 

Compensation of Board 

In 2006, the company’s non-employee directors received an annual retainer/attendance fee for regularly scheduled meetings of

$60,000 and a meeting fee of $1,500 per meeting for attendance at certain additional board and committee meetings. In addi-

tion, the chairpersons of the compensation, the finance, and the nominating and corporate governance committees received an

annual $5,000 retainer, and the chairperson of the audit committee received an annual $20,000 retainer.  In February 2006, the

board approved the payment of an additional $100,000 annual retainer to the non-executive chairman of the board. Prior to

February 2006, the chairman of the board had been an employee of the company. The annual retainers and annual attendance

fee were payable in monthly installments in cash.  In February 2006, the board also approved an annual grant to each

non-employee director of restricted stock units having a value of $100,000 (based on the fair market value of Unisys common

stock on the date of grant). Accordingly, on February 9, 2006, each non-employee director received a grant of 15,397 restricted

stock units.  The restricted stock units vest in three annual installments beginning one year after the date of grant and will be

settled in shares of Unisys common stock.  The grant of restricted stock units was made in lieu of stock option grants.  Directors

who are employees of the company do not receive any cash, stock units, stock options or restricted stock units for their services

as directors. 

Certifications 

Each year, within 30 days after its annual meeting, the company is required to file a certification from its chief executive

officer (CEO) with the New York Stock Exchange certifying to the company’s compliance with the exchange’s corporate

governance listing standards.  The company provided the certification for 2006 to the exchange on May 19, 2006.

The company is also required to file certifications from its CEO and chief financial officer with the Securities and Exchange

Commission (SEC) regarding the quality of the company’s public disclosure.  The certifications for 2006 were filed with the

SEC as exhibits to the company’s 2006 Form 10-K. 
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Our board of directors has adopted corporate governance guidelines that cover,
among other things, the following: 

1. A majority of the board of directors shall qualify as independent under the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange.

2. The nominating and corporate governance committee reviews annually with the board the independence of outside directors.

Following this review, only those directors who meet the independence qualifications prescribed by the New York Stock

Exchange and who the board affirmatively determines have no material relationship with the company will be considered

independent. The board has determined that the following commercial or charitable relationships will not be considered to be

material relationships that would impair independence: (a) if a director is an executive officer or partner of, or owns more than

a 10 percent equity interest in, a company that does business with Unisys, and sales to or purchases from Unisys are less

than 1 percent of the annual revenues of that company and (b) if a director is an officer, director or trustee of a charitable

organization, and Unisys contributions to that organization are less than 1 percent of its annual charitable receipts. 

3. The nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for determining the appropriate skills and characteristics

required of board members in the context of its current makeup and will consider factors such as independence, experience,

strength of character, mature judgment, technical skills, diversity and age in its assessment of the needs of the board. 

4. If the chairman of the board is not an employee of the company, the chairman should qualify as independent under the listing

standards of the New York Stock Exchange. Members of the audit, compensation, and nominating and corporate governance

committees must also so qualify. 

5. Directors may not stand for election after age 70 or continue to serve beyond the annual stockholders’ meeting following

the attainment of age 70. 

6. Directors should volunteer to resign from the board upon a change in primary job responsibility. The nominating and corporate

governance committee will review the appropriateness of continued board membership under the circumstances and will

recommend, and the board will determine, whether or not to accept the director’s resignation. In addition, if the company’s

chief executive officer resigns from that position, he is expected to offer his resignation from the board at the same time. 

7. Non-management directors are encouraged to limit the number of public company boards on which they serve to no more

than four in addition to the company’s and should advise the chairman of the board and the general counsel of the company

before accepting an invitation to serve on another board.

8. The non-management directors will meet in executive session at all regularly scheduled board meetings. They may also meet

in executive session at any time upon request. If the chairman of the board is an employee of the company, the board

will elect from the independent directors a lead director who will preside at executive sessions. If the chairman is not an

employee, the chairman will preside at executive sessions. 

9. Board members have complete access to Unisys management. Members of senior management who are not board members

regularly attend board meetings, and the board encourages senior management, from time to time, to bring into board

meetings other managers who can provide additional insights into the matters under discussion. 

1. The board and its committees have the right at any time to retain independent outside financial, legal or other advisors. 

1. It is appropriate for the company’s staff to report once a year to the compensation committee on the status of board

compensation in relation to other large U.S. companies. Changes in board compensation, if any, should come at the

suggestion of the compensation committee, but with full discussion and concurrence by the board. Particular attention

will be paid to structuring board compensation in a manner aligned with stockholder interests. In this regard, a meaningful

portion of a director’s compensation should be provided and held in stock options and/or stock units. Directors should not,

except in rare circumstances approved by the board, draw any consulting, legal or other fees from the company. In no event

shall any member of the audit committee receive any compensation from the company other than directors’ fees.

10
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12. The company will provide an orientation program for new directors. The company will also provide directors with 

presentations from time to time on topics designed by the company or third-party experts to assist directors in carrying 

out their responsibilities. Directors may also attend appropriate continuing education programs at the company’s expense.

13. The board will conduct an annual self-evaluation to determine whether it and its committees are functioning effectively. 

14. The non-management directors will evaluate the performance of the chief executive officer annually and will meet in

executive session, led by the chairperson of the compensation committee, to review this performance. The evaluation is

based on objective criteria, including performance of the business, accomplishment of long-term strategic objectives and

development of management. Based on this evaluation, the compensation committee will recommend, and the members

of the board who meet the independence criteria of the New York Stock Exchange will determine and approve, the 

compensation of the chief executive officer. 

15. To assist the board in its planning for the succession to the position of chief executive officer, the chief executive officer

is expected to provide an annual report on succession planning to the compensation committee. 

16. The company’s stockholder rights plan expired on March 17, 2006, and the company has no present intention to adopt a

new one. Subject to its continuing fiduciary duties, which may dictate otherwise depending on the circumstances, the board

shall submit the adoption of any future stockholder rights plan to a vote of the stockholders. Any stockholder rights plan

adopted or extended without stockholder approval shall be approved by a majority of the independent members of the board

and shall be in response to specific, articulable circumstances that are deemed to warrant such action without the delay

that might result from seeking prior stockholder approval. If the board adopts or extends a rights plan without prior

stockholder approval, the board shall, within one year, either submit the plan to a vote of the stockholders or redeem the

plan or cause it to expire. 

Note: For the full text of committee charters and governance guidelines, visit the main Corporate Governance section of the Investor site:
www.unisys.com/investor.

11
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Unisys Corporation
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

For 2006, the company reported a net loss of $278.7 million, or $.81 per share.  During the year, the company executed

against its plan to fundamentally reposition the company for improved profitability by 2008.  During the year, the company:

• Committed to a reduction of 5,665 employees, which resulted in pretax charges of $330.1 million.  During the year, 4,900

of the employee reductions were realized.  See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

• Adopted changes to its U.S. defined benefit pension plans effective December 31, 2006, and will increase matching

contributions to its defined contribution savings plan beginning January 1, 2007.  As a result of stopping the accruals for

future benefits under its U.S. defined benefit pension plans, the company recorded a pretax curtailment gain of $45.0 mil-

lion.  See Note 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

• Initiated the divestiture of non-core assets.  In March 2006, the company sold its ownership in Nihon Unisys, Ltd. (NUL), a

leading IT solutions provider in Japan.  The company sold all of its 30.5 million shares in NUL, generating cash proceeds of

approximately $378 million, which was used to fund the company’s cost reduction program.  A pretax gain of $149.9 million

was recorded on the sale.  The company also sold certain assets of its Unigen semiconductor test equipment business for

cash proceeds of approximately $8 million.  On November 22, 2006, the company signed an agreement to sell its media

business.  This transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of 2007.  See Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements.

• Renegotiated agreements relating to the company’s iPSL payment processing joint venture in the United Kingdom.  The terms

of the new agreement, which went into effect on January 1, 2006, include new tariff arrangements that are expected to yield

about $150 million in additional revenue to the company over the 2006-2010 time frame.

• Reached a series of alliance agreements with NEC Corporation (NEC) to collaborate in server technology, research and devel-

opment, manufacturing and solutions delivery.  Among the areas included in the agreements, the two companies will co-

design and develop a common high-end, Intel-based server platform for customers of both companies, and NEC is recogniz-

ing the company as a preferred provider of technology support and maintenance services and managed security services in

markets outside of Japan by offering the company the opportunity to bid these services. 

• Introduced next-generation enterprise server architecture as well as new high-end products in the company’s ClearPath family.

The company’s results in 2005 included the following significant items:

• In the third quarter of 2005, the company recorded a full valuation allowance against all of its deferred tax assets in the U.S.

and certain foreign subsidiaries.  This resulted in the company taking a third-quarter 2005 non-cash charge of $1,573.9

million, or $4.62 per share.  See Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

• In 2005, the company experienced a significant impact to its earnings due to pension accounting.  In 2005, the company

recorded pretax pension expense of $181.1 million compared with $93.6 million in 2004.

The company’s results in 2004 included the following significant items:

• The company recorded a pretax, non-cash impairment charge of $125.6 million, or $.26 per share, to write off all of the

contract-related assets related to one of the company’s outsourcing operations.  See Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements. 
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• During the fourth quarter of 2004, the company favorably settled various income tax audit issues.  As a result of the settle-

ments, the company recorded a tax benefit of $28.8 million, or $.09 per share, to net income.  See Note 4 of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements.

• To reduce costs, particularly in the general and administrative area, on September 30, 2004, the company consolidated

facility space and committed to a work-force reduction in global headcount of about 1,400 positions, primarily in general and

administrative areas.  These actions resulted in an after-tax charge to earnings of $60.0 million, or $.18 per diluted share, in

the third quarter of 2004.  See Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

• In the third quarter of 2004, the U.S. Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation approved an income tax refund to the

company related to the settlement of tax audit issues dating from the mid-1980s.  As a result of the resolution of these

audit issues, the company recorded a tax benefit of $68.2 million, or $.20 per diluted share, to net income in 2004.

See Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

• In 2004, the company experienced a significant impact to its earnings due to pension accounting.  In 2004, the company

recorded pretax pension expense of $93.6 million compared with pretax pension income of $22.6 million in 2003 – a year-

over-year increase in expense of $116.2 million.

Results of operations

Key factors impacting 2006 results of operations

In October 2005, the company announced a restructuring plan to right size the company’s cost structure.  During 2006, the com-

pany committed to a reduction of 5,665 employees.  This resulted in pretax charges in 2006 of $330.1 million, principally related

to severance costs, which were comprised of: (a) a charge of $72.4 million for 2,250 employees in the U.S. and (b) a charge of

$257.7 million for 3,415 employees outside the U.S.  The pretax charges were recorded in the following statement of income

classifications: cost of revenue – services, $216.9 million; cost of revenue – technology, $2.0 million; selling, general and

administrative expenses, $84.6 million; research and development expenses, $29.4 million; and other income (expense), net,

$2.8 million.  The income recorded in other income (expense), net relates to minority shareholders’ portion of the charge related

to the company’s fully consolidated majority-owned subsidiaries.  Net of investments in offshore resources and outsourcing of cer-

tain internal, non-client facing functions, the company anticipates that these actions will yield annualized cost savings in excess of

$340 million by the second half of 2007.  The company continues to explore other approaches to reducing its cost structure,

including additional work-force reductions and potential idle facility charges, which could result in additional cost reduction charges

in 2007.

On March 17, 2006, the company adopted changes to its U.S. defined benefit pension plans effective December 31, 2006, and

will increase matching contributions to its defined contribution savings plan beginning January 1, 2007.  The changes to the U.S.

pension plans affect most U.S. employees and senior management and involve ending the accrual of future benefits in the com-

pany’s defined benefit pension plans for employees effective December 31, 2006.  There will be no new entrants to the plans

after that date.  In addition, the company will increase its matching contribution under the company savings plan to 100 percent

of the first 6 percent of eligible pay contributed by participants, up from the current 50 percent of the first 4 percent of eligible

pay contributed by participants.  The company match is made in company common stock.  The changes do not affect the vest-

ed accrued pension benefits of current and former employees, including retirees.  As a result of the amendment to stop accru-

als for future benefits in its U.S. defined benefit pension plans, the company recorded a pretax curtailment gain of $45.0 million

in the first quarter of 2006.

Company results

Revenue for 2006 and 2005 was $5.76 billion.  Services revenue in 2006 increased by 3% which was offset by a 13% decline in

Technology revenue.  Foreign currency fluctuations had a 1-percentage-point positive impact on revenue in 2006 compared with

2005.  Revenue in 2005 decreased 1% from 2004.  The 2005 decrease was due to an 11% decline in Technology revenue offset in

part by an increase of 1% in Services revenue.  Foreign currency fluctuations had a 1-percentage-point positive impact on revenue 

in 2005 compared with 2004.  Revenue from international operations in 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $3.22 billion, $3.11 billion and

13
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$3.18 billion, respectively.  On a constant currency basis, international revenue increased 2% in 2006 compared with 2005.

Revenue from U.S. operations was $2.54 billion in 2006, $2.65 billion in 2005 and $2.64 billion in 2004.

Pension expense for 2006 was $135.5 million compared with pension expense of $181.1 million in 2005 and $93.6 million in

2004.  The decrease in pension expense in 2006 from 2005 was due to the $45.0 million curtailment gain recognized in the

U.S., discussed above.  The increase in pension expense in 2005 from 2004 was due to the following:  (a) a decline in the

discount rate used for the U.S. pension plans to 5.88% at December 31, 2004 from 6.25% at December 31, 2003, (b) an

increase in amortization of net unrecognized losses for the U.S. plan, and (c) for international plans, declines in discount rates

and currency translation.  The company records pension income or expense, as well as other employee-related costs such as

payroll taxes and medical insurance costs, in operating income in the following income statement categories:  cost of sales;

selling, general and administrative expenses; and research and development expenses.  The amount allocated to each category

is based on where the salaries of active employees are charged.

Gross profit percent was 17.5% in 2006, 20.2% in 2005 and 23.4% in 2004.  The decline in gross profit percent in 2006 com-

pared with 2005 principally reflected a $218.9 million cost reduction charge recorded in 2006.  Excluding the cost reduction

charge, gross margin improved in 2006 principally due to operational improvements in several large business process outsourc-

ing (BPO) contracts as well as the benefits derived from the cost reduction actions.  The decline in gross profit percent in 2005

compared with 2004 principally reflected (a) pension expense of $125.8 million in 2005 compared with pension expense of

$67.2 million in 2004, (b) lower sales in 2005 of high-margin enterprise servers, (c) underutilization of personnel in project-

based services in 2005, (d) increased costs related to execution issues in 2005 in several outsourcing operations, (e) the

$125.6 million impairment charge in 2004, and (f) a $28.1 million charge in 2004 relating to cost reduction actions. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $1.10 billion in 2006 (19.2% of revenue), $1.06 billion in 2005 (18.4% of

revenue) and $1.10 billion in 2004 (18.9% of revenue).  The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in 2006

compared with 2005 was principally due to an $84.6 million cost reduction charge recorded in 2006.  Excluding the cost reduc-

tion charge, selling, general and administrative expenses in 2006 declined principally due to the benefits derived from the cost

reduction actions.  The change in selling, general and administrative expenses in 2005 compared with 2004 was principally due

to (a) $35.8 million of pension expense in 2005 compared with pension expense of $18.3 million in 2004, (b) a $50.2 million

charge in 2004 relating to cost reduction actions, and (c) the impact of foreign currency exchange rates.  

Research and development (R&D) expenses in 2006 were $231.7 million compared with $263.9 million in 2005 and $294.3

million in 2004.  The company continues to invest in proprietary operating systems, middleware and in key programs within its

industry practices.  R&D expense in 2006 included a $29.4 million charge relating to the 2006 cost reduction actions.  The

decline in R&D in 2006 compared with 2005, exclusive of the current period cost reduction charge, was principally a result of

cost reduction actions.  R&D in 2005 includes $19.5 million of pension expense compared with pension expense of $8.1 million

in 2004.  In addition, R&D expense in 2004 included an $8.4 million charge relating to 2004 cost reduction actions which

contributed to the R&D decline in 2005 compared with 2004.  

In 2006, the company reported an operating loss of $326.8 million compared with operating losses of $162.4 million in 2005

and $34.8 million in 2004.  The principal item affecting the comparison of 2006 with 2005 was a $332.9 million charge in 2006

related to the cost reduction actions.  The principal items affecting the comparison of 2005 with 2004 were (a) pension expense

of $181.1 million in 2005 compared with pension expense of $93.6 million in 2004, (b) increased costs related to execution

issues in 2005 in several outsourcing operations, (c) an $86.7 million charge in 2004 relating to cost reduction actions, and (d)

the $125.6 million impairment charge in 2004.  

Interest expense was $77.2 million in 2006, $64.7 million in 2005 and $69.0 million in 2004.  The increase in 2006 compared

with 2005 was principally due to higher average debt.

Other income (expense), net, which can vary from year to year, was income of $153.1 million in 2006, compared with income of

$56.2 million in 2005 and income of $27.8 million in 2004.  The difference in 2006 from 2005 was principally due to (a) a gain of

$149.9 million on the sale of all of the company’s shares of NUL (see Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)

compared with a gain on the sale of property of $15.8 million in 2005, (b) a charge of $10.7 million in 2005 related to the debt

tender offer discussed below, offset in part by (c) a loss of $6.0 million in 2006 compared with income of $36.6 million in 2005

related to minority shareholders’ portion of losses of iPSL, a 51%-owned subsidiary which is fully consolidated by the company,
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due to increased profit from iPSL resulting from the renegotiated contract in January 2006, and (d) an equity loss in 2006 of

$4.5 million compared with equity income of $9.2 million in 2005.  The difference in 2005 from 2004 was principally due to (a)

income of $36.6 million in 2005 compared with income of $11.9 million in 2004 related to minority shareholders’ portion of

losses of iPSL, (b) a gain on the sale of property of $15.8 million in 2005, (c) foreign exchange gains of $6.5 million in 2005

compared with foreign exchange losses of $5.2 million in 2004, offset in part by (d) a charge of $10.7 million in 2005 related to

the debt tender offer, discussed below, (e) lower equity income in 2005, $9.2 million compared with $16.1 million in 2004, and

(f) higher discounts on the sales of receivables in 2005, $9.6 million compared with $3.6 million in 2004.  

Income before income taxes in 2006 was a loss of $250.9 million compared with a loss of $170.9 million in 2005 and 

$76.0 million in 2004.

During the financial close for the quarter ended September 30, 2005, the company performed its quarterly assessment of its

net deferred tax assets.  Up to that point in time, as previously disclosed in the company’s critical accounting policies section of

its Form 10-K, the company had principally relied on its ability to generate future taxable income (predominately in the U.S.) in its

assessment of the realizability of its net deferred tax assets.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (SFAS No. 109), limits the ability to

use future taxable income to support the realization of deferred tax assets when a company has experienced recent losses

even if the future taxable income is supported by detailed forecasts and projections.  After considering the company’s pretax

losses in 2004 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2005, the expectation of a pretax loss for the full year of 2005,

and the impact over the short term of the company’s announced plans to restructure its business model by divesting non-core

assets, reducing its cost structure and shifting its focus to high-growth core markets, the company concluded that it could no

longer rely on future taxable income as the basis for realization of its net deferred tax assets.

Accordingly, the company recorded a non-cash charge in the third quarter of 2005 of $1,573.9 million, or $4.62 per share,

to increase the valuation allowance against deferred tax assets. With this increase, the company has a full valuation allowance

against its deferred tax assets for all of its U.S. operations and for certain foreign subsidiaries. This non-cash charge did not

affect the company’s compliance with the financial covenants under its credit agreements. It was recorded in provision for

income taxes in the accompanying consolidated statement of income.  The company expects to continue to record a full

valuation allowance on future tax benefits in such jurisdictions until other positive evidence is sufficient to justify recognition.

The realization of the remaining net deferred tax assets of approximately $158 million is primarily dependent on forecasted

future taxable income within certain foreign jurisdictions. Any reduction in estimated forecasted future taxable income may

require the company to record an additional valuation allowance against the remaining deferred tax assets. Any increase or

decrease in the valuation allowance would result in additional or lower income tax expense in such period and could have a sig-

nificant impact on that period’s earnings.

The provision for income taxes in 2006 was $27.8 million compared with a provision of $1,561.0 million in 2005 and a benefit

of $114.6 million in 2004.  The 2006 income tax provision includes a benefit of $44.0 million related to the cost reduction

charges.  The 2005 income tax provision includes the increase of $1,573.9 million in the deferred tax valuation allowance dis-

cussed above.  The 2004 benefit for taxes includes (a) a benefit of $68.2 million related to a tax refund, (b) a benefit of $28.8

million related to the other favorable income tax audit settlements, (c) a $37.7 million benefit related to the impairment charge

discussed above, and (d) a $22.0 million benefit related to cost reduction actions.  

In March 2006, the company sold all of the shares it owned in NUL, a publicly traded Japanese company.  The company

received gross proceeds of $378.1 million and recognized a pretax gain of $149.9 million in the first quarter of 2006.  NUL con-

tinues to be the exclusive distributor of the company’s hardware and software in Japan.

At December 31, 2005, the company owned approximately 29% of the voting common stock of NUL.  The company accounted

for this investment by the equity method, and, at December 31, 2005, the amount recorded in the company’s books for the invest-

ment, after the reversal of a minimum pension liability adjustment, was $243 million.  During the years ended December 31, 2006,

2005 and 2004, the company recorded equity income (loss) related to NUL of $(4.2) million, $9.1 million and $16.2 million,

respectively.  These amounts were recorded in “Other income (expense), net” in the company’s consolidated statements of income.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, total direct and indirect sales to NUL were approximately $245 million,

$245 million and $240 million, respectively.  
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In 2005, the company and NUL amended the terms of a license and support agreement pursuant to which NUL receives access

to certain of the company’s intellectual property and support services.  Prior to the revised agreement, NUL paid annual royalties

to the company based on a percentage of NUL’s revenue.  In 2004, these royalties amounted to approximately $103 million.

The royalty fees are included in the direct and indirect sales disclosed above.  Under the revised arrangement, the company has

granted NUL a perpetual license to the intellectual property, and, in lieu of an annual royalty, NUL paid the company a one-time

fixed fee of $225 million, one-half of which was paid in October 2005 and one-half of which was paid in September 2006.  The

company is recognizing the $225 million as revenue over the three-year period ending March 31, 2008.  In addition, the parties

have agreed that NUL will pay the company a fee of $20 million per year for each of the three years ending March 31, 2008 for

the support services it provides under the license and support agreement.  NUL has an option to renew the support services

arrangement for an additional two years at the same price.  In prior periods, the support services fee was included as part of

the royalty payments.

In January 2006, the company and the minority shareholders of iPSL executed the agreements discussed above whereby the

company retains its current 51% ownership interest in iPSL, and the fees charged under the outsourcing services agreements

were increased beginning January 1, 2006.  The estimated increase in iPSL revenue resulting from the amended outsourcing

services agreements, together with its existing revenue, is currently estimated to provide the company with sufficient cash flow

to recover all of iPSL’s outsourcing assets.  The company prepares its cash flow estimates based on assumptions that it

believes to be reasonable but are also inherently uncertain.  Actual future cash flows could differ from these estimates.

In February of 2006, the company and NEC signed a series of alliance agreements to collaborate in technology research and

development, manufacturing and solutions delivery.  These alliances cover a number of areas of joint development and solutions

delivery activities focusing on server technology, software, integrated solutions and support services.  NEC and the company will

collaborate and develop a common high-end, Intel-based server platform to provide customers of each company with increasingly

powerful, scalable and cost-effective servers.  The new servers are to be manufactured by NEC on behalf of both companies.

The company will continue to supply its customers with ClearPath mainframes with the benefit, over time, of joint research and

development by both companies and manufacturing provided by NEC.  

In 2002, the company and the Transportation Security Administration (TSA) entered into a competitively awarded contract providing

for the establishment of secure information technology environments in airports.  The Defense Contract Audit Agency (DCAA), at

the request of TSA, reviewed contract performance and raised some government contracting issues.  The company continues to

work to address certain contracts administration issues raised by the DCAA.  In addition, the company has learned that the Civil

Division of the Department of Justice, working with the Inspector General’s Office of the Department of Homeland Security, is

reviewing issues raised by the DCAA relating to labor categorization and overtime on the TSA contract.  The company understands

that the Civil Division is at an early stage in its review.  The company is working cooperatively with the Civil Division.  The company

does not know whether the Civil Division will pursue the matter, or, if pursued, what effect this might have on the company.

Segment results

The company has two business segments:  Services and Technology.  Revenue classifications by segment are as follows:  Services

– systems integration and consulting, outsourcing, infrastructure services and core maintenance; Technology – enterprise-class

servers and specialized technologies.  The accounting policies of each business segment are the same as those followed by the

company as a whole.  Intersegment sales and transfers are priced as if the sales or transfers were to third parties.  Accordingly, the

Technology segment recognizes intersegment revenue and manufacturing profit on hardware and software shipments to customers

under Services contracts.  The Services segment, in turn, recognizes customer revenue and marketing profit on such shipments of

company hardware and software to customers.  The Services segment also includes the sale of hardware and software products

sourced from third parties that are sold to customers through the company’s Services channels.  In the company’s consolidated

statements of income, the manufacturing costs of products sourced from the Technology segment and sold to Services customers

are reported in cost of revenue for Services.

Also included in the Technology segment’s sales and operating profit are sales of hardware and software sold to the Services

segment for internal use in Services agreements.  The amount of such profit included in operating income of the Technology

segment for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, was $16.4 million, $16.1 million and $17.9 million,

respectively.  The profit on these transactions is eliminated in Corporate.
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The company evaluates business segment performance on operating income exclusive of restructuring charges and unusual and

nonrecurring items, which are included in Corporate.  All other corporate and centrally incurred costs are allocated to the business

segments, based principally on revenue, employees, square footage or usage.  Therefore, the segment comparisons below

exclude the restructuring charges mentioned above.  See Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Information by business segment for 2006, 2005 and 2004 is presented below:

(millions of dollars) Total Eliminations Services Technology

2006

Customer revenue $5,757.2 $4,917.2 $1,840.0

Intersegment $(250.3) 14.8 235.5

Total revenue $5,757.2 $(250.3) $4,932.0 $1,075.5

Gross profit percent 17.5% 15.1% 44.2%

Operating loss percent (5.7)% (.5)% 1.7%

2005

Customer revenue $5,758.7 $4,788.5 $1,970.2

Intersegment $(259.6) 18.7 240.9

Total revenue $5,758.7 $(259.6) $4,807.2 $1,211.1

Gross profit percent 20.2% 12.1% 48.4%

Operating loss percent (2.8)% (4.3)% 4.2%

2004

Customer revenue $5,820.7 $4,724.7 $1,096.0

Intersegment $(251.8) 18.1 233.7

Total revenue $5,820.7 $(251.8) $4,742.8 $1,329.7

Gross profit percent 23.4% 14.8% 51.7%

Operating loss percent (.6)% (1.7)% 10.2%

Gross profit percent and operating income percent are as a percent of total revenue.

In the Services segment, customer revenue was $4.92 billion in 2006, $4.79 billion in 2005 and $4.72 billion in 2004.  Foreign

currency translation had about a 1-percentage-point positive impact on Services revenue in 2006 compared with 2005.  Revenue

in 2006 was up 3% from 2005, principally due to a 10% increase in outsourcing ($1,916.2 million in 2006 compared with

$1,749.1 million in 2005) and a 9% increase in infrastructure services ($948.2 million in 2006 compared with $867.1 million in

2005), offset, in part, by a 4% decrease in systems integration and consulting revenue ($1,591.8 million in 2006 compared with

$1,654.4 million in 2005) and an 11% decrease in core maintenance revenue ($461.0 million in 2006 compared with $517.9

million in 2005).  Revenue in 2005 was up 1% from 2004, principally due to a 6% increase in outsourcing ($1,749.1 million in

2005 compared with $1,649.7 million in 2004) and a 3% increase in infrastructure services ($867.1 million in 2005 compared

with $844.6 million in 2004), offset, in part, by an 11% decrease in core maintenance revenue ($517.9 million in 2005 compared

with $578.7 million in 2004).  Systems integration and consulting revenue was flat year-to-year at $1,654.4 million in 2005.

Services gross profit was 15.1% in 2006, 12.1% in 2005 and 14.8% in 2004.  Services operating income (loss) percent was

(0.5)% in 2006 compared with (4.3)% in 2005 and (1.7)% in 2004.  The improvement in the Services margins in 2006 com-

pared with 2005 was principally due to operational improvements in several large BPO contracts as well as the benefits derived

from the cost reduction actions.  Included in operating income (loss) in 2005 was pension expense of $151.6 million compared

with $81.1 million of expense in 2004.  In addition, the 2005 gross profit and operating profit margins were negatively impacted

by operational issues in two outsourcing operations and underutilization of personnel in project-based businesses.  

In the Technology segment, customer revenue was $840.0 million in 2006, $970.2 million in 2005 and $1,096.0 million in

2004.  Foreign currency translation had a negligible impact on Technology revenue in 2006 compared with 2005.  Revenue in

2006 was down 13% from 2005, due to a 15% decrease in sales of enterprise-class servers ($668.6 million in 2006 compared
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with $786.1 million in 2005) and a 7% decline in sales of specialized technology products ($171.4 million in 2006 compared

with $184.1 million in 2005).  Revenue in 2005 was down 11% from 2004, due to a 10% decrease in sales of enterprise-class

servers ($786.1 million in 2005 compared with $870.3 million in 2004) and an 18% decline in sales of specialized technology

products ($184.1 million in 2005 compared with $225.7 million in 2004).  The decline in revenue in the three years primarily

reflected the continuing secular decline in the proprietary mainframe industry.  

Technology gross profit was 44.2% in 2006, 48.4% in 2005 and 51.7% in 2004.  Technology operating income percent was

1.7% in 2006 compared with 4.2% in 2005 and 10.2% in 2004.  The decline in margins in 2006 compared with 2005 primarily

reflected lower sales of ClearPath products.  The decline in margins in 2005 compared with 2004 primarily reflected lower sales

of ClearPath products as well as pension expense of $29.5 million in 2005 compared with $12.5 million in 2004.  

New accounting pronouncements

See Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements,

including the expected dates of adoption and estimated effects on results of operations and financial condition.

Financial condition

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2006 were $719.3 million compared with $642.5 million at December 31, 2005.

During 2006, cash provided by operations was $28.7 million compared with cash provided by operations of $282.0 million in 2005.

Principal factors contributing to the reduction in operating cash flow were an increase in cash expenditures for restructuring actions

and a reduction in the amount of receivables sold in the company’s U.S. securitization.  Cash expenditures related to current-year

and prior-year restructuring actions (which are included in operating activities) in 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $198.0 million,

$57.8 million and $18.6 million, respectively, principally for work-force reductions.  At December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005,

receivables of $170 million and $225 million, respectively, were sold under the company’s U.S. securitization.  In 2005, the

company received a tax refund of approximately $39 million from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service tax audit settlement in 2004.

Cash expenditures for the current-year and prior-year restructuring actions are expected to be approximately $135 million in 2007,

principally for work-force reductions.

Cash provided by investing activities in 2006 was $109.1 million compared with a cash usage of $343.0 million in 2005.

The principal reason for the increase was that in 2006, the company received net proceeds of $380.6 million from the sale of

the NUL shares and other assets compared with 2005 cash proceeds of $23.4 million principally from the sale of properties.

Proceeds from investments and purchases of investments reflect the cash flows from derivative financial instruments used to

manage the company’s currency exposure to market risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.  In 2006, net

purchases of investments were $13.9 million compared with net proceeds of $16.6 million in 2005.   In addition in 2006, the

investment in marketable software was $105.4 million compared with $125.7 million in 2005, capital additions of properties

were $70.1 million in 2006 compared with $112.0 million in 2005 and capital additions of outsourcing assets were $81.0

million in 2006 compared with $143.8 million in 2005.

Cash used for financing activities during 2006 was $77.9 million compared with cash provided of $62.4 million in 2005.

The current period includes a cash expenditure of $57.9 million to retire at maturity all of the company’s remaining 8 1/8%

senior notes. The prior-year period includes the following: (a) $541.5 million net proceeds from the September 2005 issuances

of $400 million 8% senior notes due 2012 and $150 million 8 1/2% senior notes due 2015, (b) the cash expenditure of

$351.6 million (including tender premium and expenses of $9.5 million) for the repayment of $342.1 million of the company’s

$400 million 8 1/8% senior notes due 2006 pursuant to a September 2005 tender offer by the company, and (c) the cash

expenditure of $150.0 million to retire at maturity all of the company’s 7 1/4% senior notes.

At December 31, 2006, total debt was $1.1 billion, a decrease of $75.1 million from December 31, 2005.  

The company has a three-year, secured revolving credit facility which expires in 2009 that provides for loans and letters of credit

up to an aggregate of $275 million.  Borrowings under the facility bear interest based on short-term rates and the company’s

credit rating.  The credit agreement contains customary representations and warranties, including no material adverse change in

the company’s business, results of operations or financial condition.  It also contains financial covenants requiring the company
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to maintain certain interest coverage, leverage and asset coverage ratios and a minimum amount of liquidity, which could reduce

the amount the company is able to borrow.  The credit facility also includes covenants limiting liens, mergers, asset sales,

dividends and the incurrence of debt.  Events of default include non-payment, failure to perform covenants, materially incorrect

representations and warranties, change of control and default under other debt aggregating at least $25 million.  If an event of

default were to occur under the credit agreement, the lenders would be entitled to declare all amounts borrowed under it imme-

diately due and payable.  The occurrence of an event of default under the credit agreement could also cause the acceleration of

obligations under certain other agreements and the termination of the company’s U.S. trade accounts receivable facility, dis-

cussed below.  Also, the credit facility may be terminated if the 7 7/8% senior notes due 2008 have not been repaid, refinanced

or defeased by payment of amounts due to an escrow agent on or prior to January 1, 2008.  The credit facility is secured by the

company’s assets, except that the collateral does not include accounts receivable that are subject to the receivable facility, U.S.

real estate or the stock or indebtedness of the company’s U.S. operating subsidiaries.  As of December 31, 2006, there were

letters of credit of $50.9 million issued under the facility and there were no cash borrowings.

In addition, the company and certain international subsidiaries have access to uncommitted lines of credit from various banks.

Other sources of short-term funding are operational cash flows, including customer prepayments, and the company’s U.S. trade

accounts receivable facility.

Under the accounts receivable facility, the company has agreed to sell, on an ongoing basis, through Unisys Funding Corporation I,

a wholly owned subsidiary, interests in up to $300 million of eligible U.S. trade accounts receivable.  The receivables are sold at

a discount that reflects a margin based on, among other things, the company’s then-current S&P and Moody’s credit rating.

The facility is terminable by the purchasers if the company’s corporate rating is below B by S&P or B2 by Moody’s and requires

the maintenance of certain ratios related to the sold receivables.  At December 31, 2006, the company’s corporate rating was

B+ and B2 by S&P and Moody’s, respectively.  The facility is renewable annually at the purchasers’ option until November 2008.

The average life of the receivables sold is about 50 days.  At December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the company had

sold $170 million and $225 million, respectively, of eligible receivables.

At December 31, 2006, the company has met all covenants and conditions under its various lending and funding agreements.

The company expects to continue to meet these covenants and conditions.  The company believes that it will have adequate

sources and availability of short-term funding to meet its expected cash requirements.

As described more fully in Notes 3, 4, 11 and 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, at December 31, 2006,

the company had certain cash obligations, which are due as follows:

Less than
(millions of dollars) Total 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years

Notes payable $      1.2 $ 1.2

Long-term debt 1,050.0 –00 $200.0 $300.0 $550.0

Interest payments on long-term debt 402.5 81.1 138.6 99.8 83.0

Capital lease obligations .5 .5 –00 –00 –00

Operating leases 659.5 130.1 192.8 114.8 221.8

Minimum purchase obligations 9.0 4.0 5.0 –00 –00

Work-force reductions 144.8 127.2 17.6 –00 –00

Total $2,267.5 $344.1 $554.0 $514.6 $854.8

As more fully described in Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the company could have an additional

obligation under an operating lease for one of its facilities and as described in Note 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements, the company expects to make cash contributions of approximately $75 million to its worldwide defined benefit

pension plans in 2007.

At December 31, 2006, the company had outstanding standby letters of credit and surety bonds of approximately $240 million

related to performance and payment guarantees.  On the basis of experience with these arrangements, the company believes

that any obligations that may arise will not be material. 
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The company may, from time to time, redeem, tender for, or repurchase its securities in the open market or in privately negotiated

transactions depending upon availability, market conditions and other factors.

The company has on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement covering $650 million of debt or

equity securities, which enables the company to be prepared for future market opportunities.

Stockholders’ equity decreased $31.6 million during 2006, principally reflecting the net loss of $278.7 million and currency

translation of $5.8 million, offset in part by a decrease of $224.8 million in the charge in other comprehensive loss due to pen-

sion accounting and $28.2 million for issuance of stock under share-based plans.

Effective April 1, 2005, the company discontinued its Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which enabled employees to purchase

shares of the company’s common stock through payroll deductions at 85% of the market price at the beginning or end of a

calendar quarter, whichever was lower.  For the period from January 1, 2005 to April 1, 2005, employees had purchased

1.8 million shares for $12.5 million.

Market risk

The company has exposure to interest rate risk from its short-term and long-term debt.  In general, the company’s long-term

debt is fixed rate, and the short-term debt is variable rate.  See Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for

components of the company’s long-term debt.  The company believes that the market risk assuming a hypothetical 10%

increase in interest rates would not be material to the fair value of these financial instruments, or the related cash flows, or

future results of operations.

The company is also exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risks.  The company is a net receiver of currencies other than

the U.S. dollar and, as such, can benefit from a weaker dollar, and can be adversely affected by a stronger dollar relative to

major currencies worldwide.  Accordingly, changes in exchange rates, and in particular a strengthening of the U.S. dollar, may

adversely affect consolidated revenue and operating margins as expressed in U.S. dollars.  To minimize currency exposure gains

and losses, the company enters into forward exchange contracts and enters into natural hedges by purchasing components and

incurring expenses in local currencies. The company uses derivative financial instruments to reduce its exposure to market risks

from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The derivative instruments used are foreign exchange forward contracts and

foreign exchange options.  See Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the

company’s derivative financial instruments.

The company has performed a sensitivity analysis assuming a hypothetical 10% adverse movement in foreign currency exchange

rates applied to these derivative financial instruments described above.  As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the analysis

indicated that such market movements would have reduced the estimated fair value of these derivative financial instruments

by approximately $65 million and $59 million, respectively. 

Based on changes in the timing and amount of interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate movements and the company’s

actual exposures and hedges, actual gains and losses in the future may differ from the above analysis.

Critical accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to

make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying

notes.  Certain accounting policies, methods and estimates are particularly important because of their significance to the finan-

cial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ from management’s current judg-

ments.  The company bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on other assumptions that it believes are

reasonable under the circumstances; however, to the extent there are material differences between these estimates, judgments

and assumptions and actual results, the financial statements will be affected.  Although there are a number of accounting poli-

cies, methods and estimates affecting the company’s financial statements as described in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements, the following critical accounting policies reflect the significant estimates, judgments and assumptions.

The development and selection of these critical accounting policies have been determined by management of the company, and

the related disclosures have been reviewed with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.
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Outsourcing

Typically, the initial terms of the company’s outsourcing contracts are between three and 10 years.  In certain of these

arrangements, the company hires certain of the customers’ employees and often becomes responsible for the related

employee obligations, such as pension and severance commitments.  In addition, system development activity on outsourc-

ing contracts often requires significant upfront investments by the company.  The company funds these investments, and

any employee-related obligations, from customer prepayments and operating cash flow.  Also, in the early phases of these

contracts, gross margins may be lower than in later years when the work force and facilities have been rationalized for

efficient operations, and an integrated systems solution has been implemented.

Revenue under these contracts is recognized when the company performs the services or processes transactions in accordance

with contractual performance standards.  Customer prepayments (even if nonrefundable) are deferred (classified as a liability)

and recognized systematically as revenue over future periods as services are delivered or performed.

Costs on outsourcing contracts are charged to expense as incurred.  However, direct costs incurred related to the inception of

an outsourcing contract are deferred and charged to expense over the contract term.  These costs consist principally of initial

customer setup and employment obligations related to employees assumed.  In addition, the costs of equipment and software,

some of which are internally developed, are capitalized and depreciated over the shorter of their life or the term of the contract.

Recoverability of outsourcing assets is subject to various business risks, including the timely completion and ultimate cost of the

outsourcing solution, and realization of expected profitability of existing outsourcing contracts.  The company quarterly compares

the carrying value of the outsourcing assets with the undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the outsourcing

assets to determine if there is an impairment.  If impaired, the outsourcing assets are reduced to an estimated fair value on a

discounted cash flow approach.  The company prepares its cash flow estimates based on assumptions that it believes to be rea-

sonable but are also inherently uncertain.  Actual future cash flows could differ from these estimates.  At December 31, 2006 and

2005, the net capitalized amount related to outsourcing contracts was $401.1 million and $416.0 million, respectively. 

Revenue recognition

The majority of the company’s sales agreements to sell its products and services contain standard business terms and condi-

tions; however, some agreements contain multiple elements or non-standard terms and conditions.  As discussed in Note 1 of

the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the company enters into multiple-element arrangements, which may include

any combination of hardware, software or services.  As a result, significant contract interpretation is sometimes required to

determine the appropriate accounting, including whether the deliverables specified in a multiple-element arrangement should

be treated as separate units of accounting for revenue recognition purposes, and, if so, how the price should be allocated

among the elements and when to recognize revenue for each element.  The company recognizes revenue on delivered

elements only if: (a) any undelivered products or services are not essential to the functionality of the delivered products or

services, (b) the company has an enforceable claim to receive the amount due in the event it does not deliver the undelivered

products or services, (c) there is evidence of the fair value for each undelivered product or service, and (d) the revenue recog-

nition criteria otherwise have been met for the delivered elements.  Otherwise, revenue on delivered elements is recognized

when the undelivered elements are delivered.  For arrangements with multiple elements where software is more than incidental

to the arrangement, fair value of undelivered products or services is determined by “vendor-specific objective evidence,” which

is based upon normal pricing and discounting practices for those products and services when sold separately, or

renewal rates offered to the customers.  The company’s continued ability to determine vendor-specific objective evidence of

fair value will depend on continued sufficient volumes of stand-alone transactions and renewals for the undelivered elements.

If vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value does not exist for undelivered elements, revenue is deferred.  In addition, the

company’s revenue recognition policy requires an assessment as to whether collectibility is probable.  Changes in judgments

on these assumptions and estimates could materially impact the timing of revenue recognition.

For long-term fixed price systems integration contracts, the company recognizes revenue and profit as the contracts progress

using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, which relies on estimates of total expected contract revenues and

costs.  The company follows this method because reasonably dependable estimates of the revenue and costs applicable to
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various elements of a contract can be made.  Because the financial reporting of these contracts depends on estimates, which

are assessed continually during the term of the contracts, recognized revenues and profit are subject to revisions as the con-

tract progresses to completion.  Revisions in profit estimates are reflected in the period in which the facts that give rise to the

revision become known.  Accordingly, favorable changes in estimates result in additional revenue and profit recognition, and

unfavorable changes in estimates result in a reduction of recognized revenue and profit.  When estimates indicate that a loss

will be incurred on a contract upon completion, a provision for the expected loss is recorded in the period in which the loss

becomes evident.  As work progresses under a loss contract, revenue continues to be recognized, and a portion of the contract

costs incurred in each period is charged to the contract loss reserve.  For other systems integration projects, the company

recognizes revenue when the services have been performed.

Income taxes

The company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which requires that

deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences between the

book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 109 also requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a

valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or the entire deferred tax asset will not be realized.

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the company had deferred tax assets in excess of deferred tax liabilities of $2,154 million

and $2,080 million, respectively.  For the reasons cited below, at December 31, 2006 and 2005, management determined that

it is more likely than not that $158 million and $98 million, respectively, of such assets will be realized, resulting in a valuation

allowance of $1,996 million and $1,982 million, respectively.  

The company evaluates quarterly the realizability of its deferred tax assets by assessing its valuation allowance and by adjusting

the amount of such allowance, if necessary.  The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization are the company’s forecast

of future taxable income and available tax-planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets.

The company has used tax-planning strategies to realize or renew net deferred tax assets to avoid the potential loss of future

tax benefits.  The company recorded a non-cash charge in the third quarter of 2005 of $1,573.9 million, or $4.62 per share, to

increase the valuation allowance against deferred taxes (see Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Failure to achieve forecasted taxable income might affect the ultimate realization of the net deferred tax assets.  Factors that may

affect the company’s ability to achieve sufficient forecasted taxable income include, but are not limited to, the following: increased

competition, a continuing decline in sales or margins, loss of market share, delays in product availability or technological obsoles-

cence.  See “Factors that may affect future results.”  

The company’s provision for income taxes and the determination of the resulting deferred tax assets and liabilities involve

a significant amount of management judgment and are based on the best information available at the time. The company

operates within federal, state and international taxing jurisdictions and is subject to audit in these jurisdictions.  These audits

can involve complex issues, which may require an extended period of time to resolve.

As a result, the actual income tax liabilities in the jurisdictions with respect to any fiscal year are ultimately determined long after

the financial statements have been published. The company evaluates its income tax contingencies in accordance with SFAS

No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.”  The company maintains reserves for estimated tax exposures including related interest.

Income tax exposures include potential challenges of research and development credits and intercompany pricing.  Exposures

are settled primarily through the settlement of audits within these tax jurisdictions, but can also be affected by changes in appli-

cable tax law or other factors, which could cause management of the company to believe a revision of past estimates is appro-

priate. Management believes that an appropriate liability has been established for estimated exposures; however, actual results

may differ materially from these estimates.  The liabilities are reviewed quarterly for their adequacy and appropriateness.  

In the third quarter of 2005, the IRS closed its examination of the company’s U.S. Federal Income tax returns for all fiscal years

through 1999 with no further consequences to the company.  The audit of the company’s U.S. Federal Income tax returns for

fiscal years 2000 through 2003 commenced in 2006.  The liabilities, if any, associated with these years will ultimately be

resolved when events such as the completion of audits by the taxing jurisdictions occur.  To the extent the audits or other

events result in a material adjustment to the accrued estimates, the effect would be recognized in the provision for income

taxes line in the company’s consolidated statement of income in the period of the event.
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Pensions

The company accounts for its defined benefit pension plans in accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for

Pensions,” and SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amend-

ment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R),” which require that amounts recognized in financial statements be

determined on an actuarial basis.  The measurement of the company’s pension obligations, costs and liabilities is dependent on

a variety of assumptions selected by the company and used by the company’s actuaries.  These assumptions include estimates

of the present value of projected future pension payments to plan participants, taking into consideration the likelihood of poten-

tial future events such as salary increases and demographic experience.  The assumptions used in developing the required esti-

mates include the following key factors: discount rates, salary growth, retirement rates, inflation, expected return on plan assets

and mortality rates.

As permitted, the company uses a calculated value of plan assets (which is further described below).  This allows that the

effects of the performance of the pension plan’s assets and changes in pension liability discount rates on the company’s com-

putation of pension income (expense) be amortized over future periods.  A substantial portion of the company’s pension plan

assets and liabilities relates to its qualified defined benefit plan in the United States.

A significant element in determining the company’s pension income (expense) is the expected long-term rate of return on plan

assets.  The company sets the expected long-term rate of return based on the expected long-term return of the various asset

categories in which it invests.  The company considers the current expectations for future returns and the actual historical

returns of each asset class.  Also, because the company’s investment policy is to actively manage certain asset classes where

the potential exists to outperform the broader market, the expected returns for those asset classes are adjusted to reflect the

expected additional returns.  For 2007 and 2006, the company has assumed that the expected long-term rate of return on U.S.

plan assets will be 8.75%.  A change of 25 basis points in the expected long-term rate of return for the company’s U.S. pension

plan causes a change of approximately $11 million in pension expense.  The assumed long-term rate of return on assets is

applied to a calculated value of plan assets, which recognizes changes in the fair value of plan assets in a systematic manner

over four years.  This produces the expected return on plan assets that is included in pension income (expense).  The difference

between this expected return and the actual return on plan assets is deferred.  The net deferral of past asset gains (losses)

affects the calculated value of plan assets and, ultimately, future pension income (expense).  At December 31, 2006, for the

company’s U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan, the calculated value of plan assets was $4.62 billion and the fair value

was $4.93 billion.

At the end of each year, the company determines the discount rate to be used to calculate the present value of plan liabilities.

The discount rate is an estimate of the current interest rate at which the pension liabilities could be effectively settled at the end

of the year.  In estimating this rate, the company looks to rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income investments that (a)

receive one of the two highest ratings given by a recognized ratings agency and (b) are currently available and expected to be

available during the period to maturity of the pension benefits.  At December 31, 2006, the company determined this rate to be

6.02% for its U.S. defined benefit pension plans, an increase of 18 basis points from the rate used at December 31, 2005.

A change of 25 basis points in the U.S. discount rate causes a change in pension expense of approximately $9 million and a

change of approximately $127 million in the benefit obligation.  The net effect of changes in the discount rate, as well as the

net effect of other changes in actuarial assumptions and experience, has been deferred, as permitted.

Management chose the above assumptions as to the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and the discount rate

with consultation from, and concurrence of, the company’s third-party actuaries.

Gains and losses are defined as changes in the amount of either the projected benefit obligation or plan assets resulting from

experience different from that assumed and from changes in assumptions.  Because gains and losses may reflect refinements

in estimates as well as real changes in economic values and because some gains in one period may be offset by losses in

another and vice versa, the accounting rules do not require recognition of gains and losses as components of net pension cost

of the period in which they arise.  

As a minimum, amortization of an unrecognized net gain or loss must be included as a component of net pension cost for a

year if, as of the beginning of the year, that unrecognized net gain or loss exceeds 10 percent of the greater of the projected
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benefit obligation or the calculated value of plan assets.  If amortization is required, the minimum amortization is that excess

above the 10 percent divided by the average remaining service period of active employees expected to receive benefits under

the plan.  For the company’s U.S. defined benefit pension plan, that period is approximately 8.7 years.  At December 31, 2006,

based on the calculated value of plan assets, the estimated unrecognized loss was $1.30 billion.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the company recognized consolidated pretax pension expense of $135.5 million, com-

pared with $181.1 million of consolidated pretax pension expense for the year ended December 31, 2005.  The principal reason

for the decline was the $45.0 million curtailment gain recognized in the company’s U.S. defined benefit plans.  See Note 18 of

the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

For 2007, the company expects to recognize pension expense of approximately $42 million comprising $15 million of income

in the U.S. and $57 million of expense in international plans.  This would represent a decrease in pension expense of approxi-

mately $94 million from 2006.  The principal reason for the expected decline in pension expense is the changes adopted to

the company’s U.S. defined benefit pension plans effective December 31, 2006, resulting in stopping the accruals for future

benefits.  The decline in pension expense will be offset in part by an estimated increase of approximately $40 million in

matching contributions to the company’s U.S. defined contribution savings plan beginning January 1, 2007.  See Note 18

of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

During 2006, the company made cash contributions to its worldwide defined benefit pension plans (principally international

plans) of approximately $78 million and expects to make cash contributions of approximately $75 million during 2007.

In accordance with regulations governing contributions to U.S. defined benefit pension plans, the company is not required to

fund its U.S. qualified defined benefit plan in 2007.

Restructuring

From time to time, the company engages in actions associated with cost reduction initiatives which are accounted for under

SFAS No. 112, “Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits,” and SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with

Exit or Disposal Activities.”  The company’s restructuring actions require significant estimates including (a) expenses for sever-

ance and other employee separation costs, (b) remaining lease obligations, including sublease income, and (c) other exit costs.

The company has accrued amounts that it believes are its best estimates of the obligations it expects to incur in connection

with these actions, but these estimates are subject to change due to market conditions and final negotiations.  Should the

actual amounts differ from the estimated amounts, the restructuring charges could be materially impacted.

In 2006, the company recognized approximately $330 million in restructuring charges, which are discussed in more detail in

Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Factors that may affect future results

From time to time, the company provides information containing “forward-looking” statements, as defined in the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future events and include

any statement that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact. Words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,”

“intends,” “plans,” “projects” and similar expressions may identify such forward-looking statements. All forward-looking state-

ments rely on assumptions and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause the company’s actual

results to differ materially from expectations. Factors that could affect future results include, but are not limited to, those dis-

cussed below. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which that statement is made. The company

assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances that occur after the date on

which the statement is made.

Statements in this report regarding the company’s cost reduction plan are subject to the risk that the company may not imple-

ment the planned headcount reductions or increase its offshore resources as quickly as currently planned, which could affect

the timing of anticipated cost savings.  The amount of anticipated cost savings is also subject to currency exchange rate fluctua-

tions with regard to actions taken outside the U.S.  Statements in this report regarding the revenue increases anticipated from

the new iPSL tariff arrangements are based on assumptions regarding iPSL processing volumes and costs over the 2006-2010
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time frame. Because these volumes and costs are subject to change, the amount of anticipated revenue is not guaranteed. In

addition, because iPSL is paid by its customers in British pounds, the U.S. dollar amount of revenue recognized by the company

is subject to currency exchange rate fluctuations.  Statements in this report regarding expected pension expense in 2007 are

based on actuarial assumptions and on assumptions regarding interest rates and currency exchange rates, all of which are

subject to change.

Other factors that could affect future results include the following: 

The company’s business is affected by changes in general economic and business conditions. The company continues to face a

highly competitive business environment. If the level of demand for the company’s products and services declines in the future,

the company’s business could be adversely affected. The company’s business could also be affected by acts of war, terrorism

or natural disasters. Current world tensions could escalate, and this could have unpredictable consequences on the world econ-

omy and on the company’s business. 

The information services and technology markets in which the company operates include a large number of companies vying for

customers and market share both domestically and internationally. The company’s competitors include consulting and other pro-

fessional services firms, systems integrators, outsourcing providers, infrastructure services providers, computer hardware manu-

facturers and software providers. Some of the company’s competitors may develop competing products and services that offer

better price-performance or that reach the market in advance of the company’s offerings. Some competitors also have or may

develop greater financial and other resources than the company, with enhanced ability to compete for market share, in some

instances through significant economic incentives to secure contracts. Some also may be better able to compete for skilled pro-

fessionals. Any of these factors could have an adverse effect on the company’s business. Future results will depend on the com-

pany’s ability to mitigate the effects of aggressive competition on revenues, pricing and margins and on the company’s ability to

attract and retain talented people. 

The company operates in a highly volatile industry characterized by rapid technological change, evolving technology standards, short

product life cycles and continually changing customer demand patterns. Future success will depend in part on the company’s ability

to anticipate and respond to these market trends and to design, develop, introduce, deliver or obtain new and innovative products

and services on a timely and cost-effective basis. The company may not be successful in anticipating or responding to changes in

technology, industry standards or customer preferences, and the market may not demand or accept its services and product offer-

ings. In addition, products and services developed by competitors may make the company’s offerings less competitive.

The company’s future results will depend in part on the success of its efforts to control and reduce costs through the develop-

ment and use of low-cost subsidiaries and low-cost offshore and global sourcing models.  Future results will also depend in part

on the success of the company’s focused investment and sales and marketing strategies.  These strategies are based on

various assumptions, including assumptions regarding market segment growth, client demand, and the proper skill set of and

training for sales and marketing management and personnel, all of which are subject to change.  

The company’s future results will depend in part on its ability to grow outsourcing and infrastructure services.  The company’s

outsourcing contracts are multiyear engagements under which the company takes over management of a client’s technology

operations, business processes or networks.  In a number of these arrangements, the company hires certain of its clients’

employees and may become responsible for the related employee obligations, such as pension and severance commitments.

In addition, system development activity on outsourcing contracts may require the company to make significant upfront invest-

ments.  The company will need to have available sufficient financial resources in order to take on these obligations and make

these investments. 

Recoverability of outsourcing assets is dependent on various factors, including the timely completion and ultimate cost of the

outsourcing solution, and realization of expected profitability of existing outsourcing contracts.  These risks could result in an

impairment of a portion of the associated assets, which are tested for recoverability quarterly. 

As long-term relationships, outsourcing contracts provide a base of recurring revenue.  However, outsourcing contracts are highly

complex and can involve the design, development, implementation and operation of new solutions and the transitioning of

clients from their existing business processes to the new environment.  In the early phases of these contracts, gross margins

may be lower than in later years when an integrated solution has been implemented, the duplicate costs of transitioning from
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the old to the new system have been eliminated and the work force and facilities have been rationalized for efficient operations.

Future results will depend on the company’s ability to effectively and timely complete these implementations, transitions and

rationalizations.  Future results will also depend on the company’s ability to continue to effectively address its challenging out-

sourcing operations through negotiations or operationally and to fully recover the associated outsourcing assets. 

Future results will also depend in part on the company’s ability to drive profitable growth in consulting and systems integration.

The company’s ability to grow profitably in this business will depend on the level of demand for systems integration projects. It

will also depend on an improvement in the utilization of services delivery personnel. In addition, profit margins in this business

are largely a function of the rates the company is able to charge for services and the chargeability of its professionals. If the

company is unable to attain sufficient rates and chargeability for its professionals, profit margins will suffer. The rates the compa-

ny is able to charge for services are affected by a number of factors, including clients’ perception of the company’s ability to add

value through its services; introduction of new services or products by the company or its competitors; pricing policies of com-

petitors; and general economic conditions. Chargeability is also affected by a number of factors, including the company’s ability

to transition employees from completed projects to new engagements, and its ability to forecast demand for services and there-

by maintain an appropriate headcount. 

Future results will also depend, in part, on market demand for the company’s high-end enterprise servers and customer

acceptance of the new models announced in the second quarter of 2006.  The company continues to apply its resources to

develop value-added software capabilities and optimized solutions for these server platforms which provide competitive differ-

entiation.  Future results will depend, in part, on customer acceptance of new ClearPath systems and the company’s ability to

maintain its installed base for ClearPath and to develop next-generation ClearPath products that are purchased by the installed

base. In addition, future results will depend, in part, on the company’s ability to generate new customers and increase sales of

the Intel-based ES7000 line. The company believes there is growth potential in the market for high-end, Intel-based servers

running Microsoft and Linux operating system software. However, the company’s ability to succeed will depend on its ability to

compete effectively against enterprise server competitors with more substantial resources and its ability to achieve market

acceptance of the ES7000 technology by clients, systems integrators and independent software vendors.  Future results of the

technology business will also depend, in part, on the successful implementation of the company’s new arrangements with

NEC.

The company frequently enters into contracts with governmental entities. U.S. government agencies, including the Defense Contract

Audit Agency and the Department of Labor, routinely audit government contractors. These agencies review a contractor’s perform-

ance under its contracts, cost structure and compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards. The U.S. government also

may review the adequacy of, and a contractor’s compliance with, its systems and policies, including the contractor’s purchasing,

property, estimating, accounting, compensation and management information systems. Any costs found to be overcharged or

improperly allocated to a specific contract will be subject to reimbursement to the government. If an audit uncovers improper or

illegal activities, the company may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of

contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspension or prohibition from doing business with the U.S.

government. Other risks and uncertainties associated with government contracts include the availability of appropriated funds and

contractual provisions that allow governmental entities to terminate agreements at their discretion before the end of their terms. In

addition, if the company’s performance is unacceptable to the customer under a government contract, the government retains the

right to pursue remedies under the affected contract, which remedies could include termination. 

A number of the company’s long-term contracts for infrastructure services, outsourcing, help desk and similar services do not

provide for minimum transaction volumes. As a result, revenue levels are not guaranteed. In addition, some of these contracts

may permit customer termination or may impose other penalties if the company does not meet the performance levels specified

in the contracts. 

Certain of the company’s outsourcing agreements require that the company’s prices be benchmarked and provide for a downward

adjustment to those prices if the pricing for similar services in the market has changed.  As a result, anticipated revenues from

these contracts may decline.
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Some of the company’s systems integration contracts are fixed-price contracts under which the company assumes the risk for

delivery of the contracted services and products at an agreed-upon fixed price. At times the company has experienced problems

in performing some of these fixed-price contracts on a profitable basis and has provided periodically for adjustments to the esti-

mated cost to complete them. Future results will depend on the company’s ability to perform these services contracts profitably. 

The success of the company’s business is dependent on strong, long-term client relationships and on its reputation for respon-

siveness and quality. As a result, if a client is not satisfied with the company’s services or products, its reputation could be

damaged and its business adversely affected. In addition, if the company fails to meet its contractual obligations, it could be

subject to legal liability, which could adversely affect its business, operating results and financial condition. 

The company has commercial relationships with suppliers, channel partners and other parties that have complementary prod-

ucts, services or skills. The company has announced that alliance partnerships with select IT companies are a key factor in the

development and delivery of the company’s refocused portfolio. Future results will depend, in part, on the performance and

capabilities of these third parties, on the ability of external suppliers to deliver components at reasonable prices and in a timely

manner, and on the financial condition of, and the company’s relationship with, distributors and other indirect channel partners.

More than half of the company’s total revenue derives from international operations. The risks of doing business internationally

include foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, changes in political or economic conditions, trade protection measures,

import or export licensing requirements, multiple and possibly overlapping and conflicting tax laws, new tax legislation, and

weaker intellectual property protections in some jurisdictions. 

The company cannot be sure that its services and products do not infringe on the intellectual property rights of third parties, and

it may have infringement claims asserted against it or against its clients. These claims could cost the company money,

prevent it from offering some services or products, or damage its reputation.
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Unisys Corporation
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statements of Income

Year ended December 31 (millions, except per share data) 2006 2005 2004

Revenue

Services $4,917.2 $ 4,788.5 $4,724.7

Technology 840.0 970.2 1,096.0

5,757.2 5,758.7 5,820.7 

Costs and expenses

Cost of revenue:

Services 4,317.1 4,161.8 3,940.8

Technology 430.5 435.5 517.5

4,747.6 4,597.3 4,458.3

Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,104.7 1,059.9 1,102.9

Research and development expenses 231.7 263.9 294.3

6,084.0 5,921.1 5,855.5

Operating loss (326.8) (162.4) (34.8)

Interest expense 77.2 64.7 69.0

Other income (expense), net 153.1 56.2 27.8

Loss before income taxes (250.9) (170.9) (76.0)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 27.8 1,561.0 (114.6)

Net income (loss) $ (278.7) $(1,731.9) $ 38.6

Earnings (loss) per share

Basic $ (.81) $ (5.09) $      .12

Diluted $ (.81) $ (5.09) $      .11

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31 (millions) 2006 2005

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $   719.3 $ 642.5

Accounts and notes receivable, net 1,164.6 1,111.5

Inventories:

Parts and finished equipment 95.0 103.4

Work in process and materials 81.2 90.7

Deferred income taxes 30.0 68.2

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 148.4 137.0

Total 2,238.5 2,153.3

Properties 1,233.4 1,320.8

Less – Accumulated depreciation and amortization 892.1 934.4

Properties, net 341.3 386.4

Outsourcing assets, net 401.1 416.0

Marketable software, net 304.3 327.6

Investments at equity .1 207.8

Prepaid postretirement assets 250.1 66.1

Deferred income taxes 191.3 138.4

Goodwill 193.9 192.0

Other long-term assets 117.3 141.3

Total $4,037.9 $4,028.9

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)

Current liabilities

Notes payable $ 1.2 $    18.1

Current maturities of long-term debt .5 58.8 

Accounts payable 460.9 444.6

Other accrued liabilities 1,469.1 1,293.3

Total 1,931.7 1,814.8

Long-term debt 1,049.1 1,049.0

Long-term postretirement liabilities 667.7 652.3

Other long-term liabilities 453.6 545.4

Stockholders’ equity (deficit)

Common stock, par value $.01 per share (720.0 million shares
authorized; 347.5 million shares and 344.2 million shares issued) 3.5 3.4

Accumulated deficit  (2,386.8) (2,108.1)

Other capital 3,945.1 3,917.0

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,626.0) (1,844.9)

Stockholders’ equity (deficit) (64.2) (32.6)

Total $4,037.9 $4,028.9

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 (millions, except per share data) 2006 2005 2004

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income (loss) $(278.7) $(1,731.9) $  38.6

Add (deduct) items to reconcile net income (loss)

to net cash provided by operating activities:

Equity loss (income) 4.5 (9.2) (16.1)

Employee stock compensation 6.7 .6 1.4

Depreciation and amortization of properties 120.5 120.7 136.5

Depreciation and amortization of outsourcing assets 135.1 128.8 123.3

Amortization of marketable software 132.9 124.7 134.2

Gain on sale of NUL shares and other assets (153.2) (15.8) –

Loss on the tender of debt – 10.7 –

Impairment charge related to outsourcing assets – – 125.6

(Increase) decrease in deferred income taxes, net (66.5) 1,491.2 (41.2)

Decrease (increase) in receivables, net 14.2 34.8 (61.8)

Decrease in inventories 19.4 20.9 23.0

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 74.1 (61.4) (122.1)

(Decrease) increase in other liabilities (68.8) 149.4 111.3

Decrease (increase) in other assets 52.8 (34.3) (16.2)

Other 35.7 52.8 33.3

Net cash provided by operating activities 28.7 282.0 469.8

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from investments 7,522.0 7,726.2 6,026.5

Purchases of investments (7,535.9) (7,709.6) (6,054.3)

Investment in marketable software (105.4) (125.7) (119.6)

Capital additions of properties (70.1) (112.0) (137.0)

Capital additions of outsourcing assets (81.0) (143.8) (177.5)

Proceeds from sales of NUL shares and other assets 380.6 23.4 1.7

Purchases of businesses (1.1) (1.5) (19.4)

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 109.1 (343.0) (479.6)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net (reduction in) proceeds from short-term borrowings (17.0) 17.2 (20.0)

Proceeds from employee stock plans 1.6 12.8 38.8

Payments of long-term debt (57.9) (509.1) (3.5)

Financing fees (4.6) – –

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt – 541.5 –

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities (77.9) 62.4 15.3

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 16.9 (19.4) 19.1

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 76.8 (18.0) 24.6

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 642.5 660.5 635.9

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 719.3 $   642.5 $660.5

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Balance at December 31, 2003 333.8 $3.3 $   (414.8) (1.9) $(42.6) $3,861.2 $(2,011.9)

Issuance of stock under stock

option and other plans 5.6 .1 (.1) (.6) 61.4

Net income 38.6) $      38.6

Other comprehensive income:

Translation adjustments 43.5)

Cash flow hedges 3.1)

Minimum pension liability (39.2)

7.4) 7.4

Comprehensive income $      46.0

Tax benefit related to stock plans 4.4

Balance at December 31, 2004  339.4 3.4 (376.2) (2.0) (43.2) 3,927.0 (2,004.5)

Issuance of stock under stock

option and other plans 4.8 32.4

Net loss (1,731.9) $(1,731.9)

Other comprehensive income:

Translation adjustments 8.9

Cash flow hedges 3.6

Minimum pension liability 147.1

159.6 159.6

Comprehensive loss $(1,572.3)

Tax benefit related to stock plans .8

Balance at December 31, 2005 344.2 3.4 (2,108.1) (2.0) (43.2) 3,960.2 (1,844.9)

Issuance of stock under stock

option and other plans 3.3 .1 (.1) (.4) 28.5

Net loss (278.7) $  (278.7)

Other comprehensive income:

Translation adjustments (5.8)

Cash flow hedges (.1)

Postretirement plans 1,544.6)

1,538.7) 1,538.7

Comprehensive income $ 1,260.0

Adoption of SFAS No. 158, net of tax (1,319.8)

Balance at December 31, 2006  347.5 $3.5 $(2,386.8) (2.1) $(43.6) $3,988.7 $(1,626.0)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

Principles of consolidation The consolidated financial state-

ments include the accounts of all majority-owned subsidiaries.

Investments in companies representing ownership interests of

20% to 50% are accounted for by the equity method.

Use of estimates The preparation of financial statements in

conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles

requires management to make estimates and assumptions

that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements

and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from

those estimates and assumptions.

Cash equivalents All short-term investments purchased

with a maturity of three months or less are classified as

cash equivalents.

Inventories Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or

market. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out method.

Properties Properties are carried at cost and are depreciated

over the estimated lives of such assets using the straight-line

method. The estimated lives used are summarized below:

Estimated life (years)

Buildings 20–50

Machinery and office equipment 4–7

Rental equipment 4

Internal-use software 3–10

Advertising costs The company expenses all advertising costs

as they are incurred. The amount charged to expense during

2006, 2005 and 2004 was $8.5 million, $7.2 million and

$10.8 million, respectively.

Shipping and handling Costs related to shipping and handling

are included in cost of revenue.

Revenue recognition The company recognizes revenue when

persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has

occurred or services have been rendered, the fee is fixed or

determinable, and collectibility is probable.

Revenue from hardware sales is recognized upon shipment

and the passage of title. Outside the United States, the com-

pany recognizes revenue even if it retains a form of title to

products delivered to customers, provided the sole purpose is

to enable the company to recover the products in the event of 

customer payment default and the arrangement does not pro-

hibit the customer’s use of the product in the ordinary course

of business. 

Revenue from software licenses is recognized at the inception

of the initial license term and upon execution of an extension

to the license term.  Revenue for post-contract software sup-

port arrangements, which are marketed separately, is recorded

on a straight-line basis over the support period. The company

also enters into multiple-element arrangements, which may

include any combination of hardware, software or services. In

these transactions, the company allocates the total revenue to

be earned under the arrangement among the various elements

based on their relative fair value. For software, and elements

for which software is essential to the functionality, the alloca-

tion is based on vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) of

fair value. VSOE of fair value for all elements of an arrange-

ment is based upon the normal pricing and discounting prac-

tices for those products and services when sold separately,

and for software license updates and support services it is

based upon the rates when renewed. There may be cases in

which there is VSOE of fair value of the undelivered elements

but no such evidence for the delivered elements.  In these

cases, the residual method is used to allocate the arrange-

ment consideration.  Under the residual method, the amount

of consideration allocated to the delivered elements equals the

total arrangement consideration less the aggregate VSOE of

fair value of the undelivered elements. The company recog-

nizes revenue on delivered elements only if: (a) any undelivered

products or services are not essential to the functionality of

the delivered products or services, (b) the company has an

enforceable claim to receive the amount due in the event it

does not deliver the undelivered products or services, (c) there

is evidence of the fair value for each undelivered product or

service, and (d) the revenue recognition criteria otherwise have

been met for the delivered elements. Otherwise, revenue on

delivered elements is recognized when the undelivered ele-

ments are delivered.

Revenue from equipment and software maintenance is recog-

nized on a straight-line basis as earned over the lives of the

respective contracts.  Cost related to such contracts is

recognized as incurred.

Revenue and profit under systems integration contracts are

recognized either on the percentage-of-completion method of

accounting using the cost-to-cost method, or when services
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have been performed, depending on the nature of the project.

For contracts accounted for on the percentage-of-completion

basis, revenue and profit recognized in any given accounting

period are based on estimates of total projected contract

costs.  The estimates are continually reevaluated and

revised, when necessary, throughout the life of a contract.

Any adjustments to revenue and profit resulting from

changes in estimates are accounted for in the period of the

change in estimate. When estimates indicate that a loss will

be incurred on a contract upon completion, a provision for

the expected loss is recorded in the period in which the loss

becomes evident.

Revenue from time and materials service contracts and out-

sourcing contracts is recognized as the services are provided.

Income taxes Income taxes are based on income (loss) for

financial reporting purposes and reflect a current tax liability

(asset) for the estimated taxes payable (recoverable) in the

current-year tax return and changes in deferred taxes.

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are determined based on dif-

ferences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets

and liabilities and are measured using enacted tax laws and

rates. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax

assets if it is determined that it is more likely than not that

the asset will not be realized.

The company recognizes penalties and interest accrued relat-

ed to income tax liabilities in provision (benefit) for income

taxes in its consolidated statements of income.

Marketable software The cost of development of computer

software to be sold or leased, incurred subsequent to estab-

lishment of technological feasibility, is capitalized and amor-

tized to cost of sales over the estimated revenue-producing

lives of the products, but not in excess of three years following

product release. The company performs quarterly reviews

to ensure that unamortized costs remain recoverable from

future revenue.

Internal-use software In accordance with SOP 98-1,

“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or

Obtained for Internal Use,” the company capitalizes certain

internal and external costs incurred to acquire or create

internal-use software, principally related to software coding,

designing system interfaces, and installation and testing of

the software. These costs are amortized in accordance with

the fixed asset policy described above.

Outsourcing assets Costs on outsourcing contracts are gener-

ally expensed as incurred. However, certain costs incurred

upon initiation of an outsourcing contract are deferred and

expensed over the contract life. These costs consist principally

of initial customer setup and employment obligations related to

employees assumed. Additionally, marketable software devel-

opment costs incurred to develop specific application software

for outsourcing are capitalized once technological

feasibility has been established. Capitalized software used in

outsourcing arrangements is amortized based on current and

estimated future revenue from the product. The amortization

expense is not less than straight-line amortization expense

over the product’s useful life. Fixed assets acquired in connec-

tion with outsourcing contracts are capitalized and depreciated

over the shorter of the contract life or in accordance with the

fixed asset policy described above.

Recoverability of outsourcing assets is subject to various busi-

ness risks, including the timely completion and ultimate cost

of the outsourcing solution, realization of expected profitability

of existing outsourcing contracts and obtaining additional out-

sourcing customers. The company quarterly compares the

carrying value of the outsourcing assets with the undiscount-

ed future cash flows expected to be generated by the out-

sourcing assets to determine if there is impairment. If

impaired, the outsourcing assets are reduced to an estimated

fair value on a discounted cash flow basis. The company pre-

pares its cash flow estimates based on assumptions that it

believes to be reasonable but are also inherently uncertain.

Actual future cash flows could differ from these estimates.

Translation of foreign currency The local currency is the func-

tional currency for most of the company’s international sub-

sidiaries, and as such, assets and liabilities are translated into

U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates. Income and expense

items are translated at average exchange rates during the

year. Translation adjustments resulting from changes in

exchange rates are reported in other comprehensive income.

Exchange gains and losses on intercompany balances are

reported in other income (expense), net. 

For those international subsidiaries operating in hyper-inflation-

ary economies, the U.S. dollar is the functional currency, and

as such, non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at

historical exchange rates, and monetary assets and liabilities

are translated at current exchange rates. Exchange gains and

losses arising from translation are included in other income

(expense), net.

Stock-based compensation plans Effective January 1, 2006,

the company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards (SFAS) No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based

Payment” (SFAS No. 123R), which replaced SFAS No. 123

and superseded APB Opinion No. 25, using the modified-
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2. Earnings per share 

The following table shows how earnings (loss) per share were 

computed for the three years ended December 31, 2006.

Year ended December 31 (millions, except per share data) 2006 2005 2004

Basic earnings (loss) per share computation

Net income (loss) $1,(278.7) $(1,731.9) $1.0038.6

Weighted average shares (thousands) 343,747 340,216 334,896

Basic earnings (loss) per share $1,78(.81) $    (5.09) $1,00 .12

Diluted earnings (loss) per share computation

Net income (loss) $1,(278.7) $(1,731.9) $1,0038.6

Weighted average shares (thousands) 343,747 340,216 334,896

Plus incremental shares from assumed conversions of employee stock plans – – 3,321

Adjusted weighted average shares 343,747 340,216 338,217

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $1, (.81) $    (5.09) $1,00 .11

The following shares were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share, because either a loss was reported or the option prices were

above the average market price of the company’s common stock, (in thousands): 2006, 43,190; 2005, 47,536; 2004, 35,581.

prospective transition method and therefore has not restated

results for prior periods.  Stock-based compensation repre-

sents the cost related to stock-based awards granted to

employees and directors.  The company recognizes compen-

sation expense for the fair value of stock options, which have

graded vesting, on a straight-line basis over the requisite

service period.  The company estimates the fair value of

stock options using a Black-Scholes valuation model.  The

expense is recorded in selling, general and administrative

expenses.  The company’s stock-based compensation plans

are described more fully in Note 18.

Retirement benefits The company accounts for its defined

benefit pension plans in accordance with SFAS No. 158,

“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other

Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No.

87, 88, 106, and 132(R),” and SFAS No. 87, “Employers’

Accounting for Pensions,” which requires that amounts recog-

nized in financial statements be determined on an actuarial

basis. A significant element in determining the company’s

pension income (expense) is the expected long-term rate of

return on plan assets. This expected return is an assumption

as to the average rate of earnings expected on the funds

invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits included

in the projected pension benefit obligation. The company

applies this assumed long-term rate of return to a calculated

value of plan assets, which recognizes changes in the fair

value of plan assets in a systematic manner over four years.

This produces the expected return on plan assets that is

included in pension income (expense). The difference

between this expected return and the actual return on plan

assets is deferred. The net deferral of past asset gains (loss-

es) affects the calculated value of plan assets and, ultimately,

future pension income (expense).

At December 31 of each year, the company determines the

fair value of its pension plan assets as well as the discount

rate to be used to calculate the present value of plan liabili-

ties. The discount rate is an estimate of the interest rate at

which the pension benefits could be effectively settled.

In estimating the discount rate, the company looks to rates

of return on high-quality, fixed-income investments currently

available and expected to be available during the period

to maturity of the pension benefits. The company uses a

portfolio of fixed-income securities, which receive at least the

second-highest rating given by a recognized ratings agency.

Reclassifications Prior-year postretirement liabilities have been

reclassified to conform with the 2006 presentation.
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3. 2006 cost-reduction charges

In October 2005, the company announced a cost-reduction

plan to right size the company’s cost structure.  During 2006,

the company committed to a reduction of 5,665 employees.

This resulted in pretax charges in 2006 of $330.1 million, prin-

cipally related to severance costs, and were comprised of: (a)

a charge of $72.4 million for 2,250 employees in the U.S. and

(b) a charge of $257.7 million for 3,415 employees outside

the U.S.  The pretax charges were recorded in the following

statement of income classifications: cost of revenue – servic-

es, $216.9 million; cost of revenue – technology, $2.0 million;

selling, general and administrative expenses, $84.6 million;

research and development expenses, $29.4 million; and other

income (expense), net, $2.8 million.  The income recorded in

other income (expense), net relates to minority shareholders’

portion of the charge related to majority owned subsidiaries

which are fully consolidated by the company.

A further breakdown of the individual components of these

costs follows (in millions of dollars):

Headcount Total U.S. Int’l.

Charge for work-force

reductions 5,665 $ 330.1 $72.4 $ 257.7

Minority interest 2.8 2.8

5,665 332.9 72.4 260.5

Utilized (4,431) (182.9) (46.1) (136.8)

Changes in estimates

and revisions (477) (19.3) (.2) (19.1)

Translation adjustments 11.9 11.9

Balance at

December 31, 2006 757 $ 142.6 $26.1 $ 116.5

Expected future utilization:

2007 757 $ 125.0 $26.1 $   98.9

Beyond 2007 17.6 17.6

4. 2005 and 2004 significant items
2005

During the financial close for the quarter ended 

September 30, 2005, the company performed its quarterly

assessment of its net deferred tax assets. Up to that point in

time, as previously disclosed in the company’s critical account-

ing policies section of its Form 10-K, the company had principal-

ly relied on its ability to generate future taxable income (pre-

dominately in the U.S.) in its assessment of the realizability of

its net deferred tax assets. SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for

Income Taxes” (SFAS No. 109), limits the ability to use future

taxable income to support the realization of deferred tax assets

when a company has experienced recent losses even if the

future taxable income is supported by detailed forecasts and

projections. After considering the company’s pretax losses in

2004 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2005,

the expectation of a pretax loss for the full year of 2005, and

the impact over the short term of the company’s announced

plans to restructure its business model by divesting non-core

assets, reducing its cost structure and shifting its focus to high-

growth core markets, the company concluded that it

could no longer rely on future taxable income as the basis

for realization of its net deferred tax assets.

Accordingly, the company recorded a non-cash charge in the

third quarter of 2005 of $1,573.9 million, or $4.62 per share,

to increase the valuation allowance against deferred tax

assets. With this increase, the company has a full valuation

allowance against its deferred tax assets for all of the U.S.

operations and certain foreign subsidiaries. This non-cash

charge did not affect the company’s compliance with the

financial covenants under its credit agreements. It has been

recorded in provision for income taxes in the accompanying

consolidated statement of income.  The company expects

to continue to record a full valuation allowance on future tax

benefits in such jurisdictions until other positive evidence is

sufficient to justify realization.

The realization of the remaining net deferred tax assets of

approximately $158 million is primarily dependent on forecast-

ed future taxable income within certain foreign jurisdictions.

A reduction in estimated forecasted future taxable income in

such jurisdictions may require the company to record an

additional valuation allowance against the remaining deferred

tax assets. Any increase or decrease in the valuation

allowance would result in additional or lower income tax

expense in such period and could have a significant impact

on that period’s earnings.

See Note 8 for more information on income taxes.

2004

The company recorded a pretax, non-cash impairment charge

of $125.6 million, or $.26 per share, to write off all of the

contract-related long-lived assets related to one of the compa-

ny’s outsourcing operations in the fourth quarter of 2004.

The entire charge was recorded in services cost of revenue in

the company’s Services segment. In the fourth quarter,

impairment indicators arose, resulting in significantly lower

estimates of future cash flows from the outsourcing assets.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the company favorably

settled various income tax audit issues. As a result of the

settlements, the company recorded a tax benefit of

$28.8 million, or $.09 per share.
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During the third quarter of 2004, the U.S. Congressional Joint

Committee on Taxation approved an income tax refund to the

company related to the settlement of tax audit issues dating

from the mid-1980s. The refund, including interest, was

approximately $40 million. As a result of the resolution of

these audit issues, the company recorded a tax benefit of

$68.2 million, or $.20 per diluted share. The company also

recorded a reduction of goodwill of $8.0 million, as certain

amounts of the tax benefit related to the preacquisition 

period of an acquired entity.

As part of its ongoing efforts to reduce its cost base and

enhance its administrative efficiency, on September 30,

2004, the company consolidated facility space and commit-

ted to a work-force reduction of 1,415 employees, primarily in

general and administrative areas. These actions resulted in a

pretax charge of $82.0 million, or $.18 per diluted share. The

charge related to work-force reductions was $75.3 million and

comprised: (a) 752 employees in the U.S. for a charge of

$23.2 million and (b) 663 employees outside the U.S. for a

charge of $52.1 million. The charge for work-force reductions

was principally related to severance costs. The facility charge

of $6.7 million related principally to a single U.S. leased prop-

erty that the company ceased using as of September 30,

2004. The facility charge represented the fair value of the lia-

bility at the cease-use date and was determined based on the

remaining lease rental payments, reduced by estimated sub-

lease rentals that could be reasonably obtained for the prop-

erty. Cash expenditures related to these actions, as well as

prior years’ cost-reduction actions, during 2006, 2005 and

2004 were $15.2 million, $57.8 million and $18.6 million,

respectively, and are expected to be approximately $10.5

million in 2007.

The 2004 pretax charge was recorded in the following state-

ment of income classifications: cost of revenue–services,

$28.1 million; selling, general and administrative expenses,

$50.2 million; research and development expenses, $8.4

million; and other income (expense), net, $4.7 million. The

income recorded in other income (expense), net relates to the

minority shareholders’ portion of the charge related to a 51%-

owned subsidiary, which is consolidated by the company.

5. Goodwill

The company accounts for goodwill and other intangible

assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other

Intangible Assets.” These assets are reviewed annually for

impairment in accordance with this statement. SFAS No. 142

requires a company to perform an impairment test on an

annual basis and whenever events or circumstances occur

indicating that the goodwill may be impaired. During 2006, the

company performed its annual impairment test, which indicat-

ed that the company’s goodwill was not impaired.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment

for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, were

as follows:

(millions) Total Services Technology

Balance at

December 31, 2004 $189.9 $75.1 $114.8

Foreign currency

translation adjustments (1.7) (.6) (1.1)

Other(*) 3.8 3.8

Balance at

December 31, 2005 192.0 78.3 113.7

Foreign currency

translation adjustments 3.1 3.7 (.6)

Sale (1.2) (1.2)

Balance at

December 31, 2006 $193.9 $82.0 $111.9

(*) Resolution of contingent consideration.

6. Recent accounting pronouncements and
accounting changes

Effective January 1, 2006, the company adopted SFAS No.

151, “Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter

4” (SFAS No. 151).  SFAS No. 151 amends the guidance in

ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the

accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense,

handling costs and wasted material (spoilage).  Among other

provisions, the new rule requires that such items be recog-

nized as current-period charges, regardless of whether they

meet the criterion of “so abnormal” as stated in ARB No. 43.

Adoption of SFAS No. 151 did not have a material effect on

the company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated

results of operations, or liquidity. 

On December 31, 2006, the company adopted Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’

Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other

Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No.

87, 88, 106, and 132(R),” (SFAS No. 158).  SFAS No. 158

requires an employer to recognize in its statement of financial

position the funded status of a benefit plan, measured as the

difference between plan assets at fair value and the benefit

obligation.  For pension plans, the benefit obligation is the

projected benefit obligation; for any other postretirement ben-

efit plan, such as a retiree health care plan, the benefit obli-
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gation is the accumulated benefit obligation.  If plan assets

exceed plan liabilities, an asset would be recognized, and if

plan liabilities exceed plan assets, a liability would be recog-

nized.  In addition, SFAS No. 158 requires that changes in the

funded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan be rec-

ognized in comprehensive income in the year in which the

changes occur.  SFAS No. 158 does not change the amount

of expense recorded in a company’s statement of income

related to defined benefit postretirement plans.  Adoption of

SFAS No. 158 resulted in the recognition of a $1.3 billion non-

cash charge, net of tax, to accumulated other comprehensive

income.  This charge had no effect on the company’s net

income, liquidity, cash flows, or financial ratio covenants in the

company’s credit agreements and public debt securities.

See Note 18. 

Effective July 1, 2005, the company adopted SFAS No. 153,

“Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB

Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions”

(SFAS No. 153). SFAS No. 153 eliminates the exception from

fair value measurement for non-monetary exchanges of similar

productive assets in paragraph 21 (b) of APB Opinion No. 29,

“Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions,” and replaces it

with an exception for exchanges that do not have commercial

substance. SFAS No. 153 specifies that a nonmonetary

exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows

of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result

of the exchange. Adoption of SFAS No. 153 did not have a

material effect on the company’s consolidated financial posi-

tion, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange

Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,

“Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when

Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial

Statements” (SAB 108).  SAB 108 requires companies to

evaluate the materiality of identified unadjusted errors on

each financial statement and related financial statement dis-

closure using both the “rollover” approach and the “iron cur-

tain” approach.  The rollover approach quantifies misstate-

ments based on the amount of the error in the current-year

financial statement whereas the iron curtain approach quanti-

fies misstatements based on the effects of correcting the

misstatement existing in the balance sheet at the end of the

current year, irrespective of the misstatement’s year(s) of ori-

gin.  Financial statements would require adjustment when

either approach results in quantifying a misstatement that is

material.  SAB 108 is effective for interim periods of the first

fiscal year ending after November 15, 2006.  Adoption of SAB

108 did not have a material impact on the company’s consoli-

dated results of operations or financial position.

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)

issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty

in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No.

109” (FIN 48).  FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and

measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition

and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be

taken in a tax return.  FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years begin-

ning after December 15, 2006.  The company does not cur-

rently expect that adoption of FIN 48 will have a material

impact on the company’s consolidated results of operations

and financial position.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”

(SFAS No. 157).  SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes

a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures

about fair value measurements.  This statement applies

under other accounting pronouncements that require or per-

mit fair value measurements.  Accordingly, SFAS No. 157

does not require any new fair value measurements.  The pro-

visions of SFAS No. 157 are to be applied prospectively and

are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years

beginning after November 15, 2007.  The company is current-

ly evaluating what effect, if any, adoption of SFAS No. 157 will

have on the company’s consolidated results of operations and

financial position.

In addition, the company is reviewing the following Emerging

Issues Task Force (EITF) consensuses and does not currently

expect that the adoption of these will have a material impact

on the company’s consolidated results of operations and

financial position.

EITF 06-2, “Accounting for Sabbatical Leave and Other Similar

Benefits Pursuant to FASB Statement No. 43,” was issued in

June 2006 and is effective for fiscal years beginning after

December 15, 2006.  EITF 06-2 applies to compensated

absences that require a minimum service period but have no

increase in the benefit even with additional years of service

and requires the benefit to be recognized as a liability over

the service period.

EITF 06-4, “Accounting for Deferred Compensation and

Postretirement Benefit Aspects of Endorsement Split-Dollar

Life Insurance Arrangements,” was issued in September 2006

and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,

2007.  EITF 06-4 requires that, for split-dollar life insurance

arrangements that provide a benefit to an employee that

extends to postretirement periods, an employer should recog-

nize a liability for future benefits in accordance with SFAS No.

106.  EITF 06-4 requires that recognition of the effects of

adoption should be either by (a) a change in accounting princi-
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ple through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earn-

ings as of the beginning of the year of adoption or (b) a

change in accounting principle through retrospective applica-

tion to all prior periods.  

EITF 06-5, “Accounting for Purchases of Life Insurance–

Determining the Amount That Could Be Realized in

Accordance with FASB Technical Bulletin No. 85-4,” was

issued in September 2006 and is effective for fiscal years

beginning after December 15, 2006.  EITF 06-5 requires that

a policyholder should consider any additional amounts includ-

ed in the contractual terms of the policy in determining the

amount that could be realized under the insurance contract

on a policy-by-policy basis.  EITF 06-5 requires that recognition

of the effects of adoption should be either by (a) a change in

accounting principle through a cumulative-effect adjustment to

retained earnings as of the beginning of the year of adoption

or (b) a change in accounting principle through retrospective

application to all prior periods.  

7. Accounts receivable

Under the company’s accounts receivable facility, the compa-

ny has agreed to sell, on an on-going basis, through Unisys

Funding Corporation I, a wholly owned subsidiary, interests in

up to $300 million of eligible U.S. trade accounts receivable.

The receivables are sold at a discount that reflects a margin

based on, among other things, the company’s then-current

S&P and Moody’s credit rating.  The facility is terminable by

the purchasers if the company’s corporate rating is below B

by S&P or B2 by Moody’s and requires the maintenance of

certain ratios related to the sold receivables.  At December

31, 2006, the company’s corporate rating was B+ and B2 by

S&P and Moody’s, respectively.  The facility is renewable

annually at the purchasers’ option until November 2008.

Unisys Funding Corporation I has been structured to isolate its

assets from creditors of the company.

The company received proceeds of $1.6 billion in 2006, 

$2.5 billion in 2005, and $1.5 billion in 2004, from ongoing

sales of accounts receivable interests under the program. At

December 31, 2006 and 2005, the company retained subordi-

nated interests of $276 million and $325 million, respectively,

in the associated receivables; these receivables have been

included in accounts and notes receivable in the accompany-

ing consolidated balance sheets. As collections reduce previ-

ously sold interests, interests in new, eligible receivables can

be sold, subject to meeting certain conditions. At December

31, 2006 and 2005, receivables of $170 million and $225

million, respectively, were sold and therefore removed from the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The selling price of the receivables interests reflects a dis-

count (5.3% at December 31, 2006, and 4.3% at December

31, 2005) based on the A-1 rated commercial paper borrow-

ing rates of the purchasers. The company remains responsi-

ble for servicing the underlying accounts receivable, for which

it will receive a fee of 0.5% of the outstanding balance, which

it believes represents adequate compensation. The company

estimates the fair value of its retained interests by consider-

ing two key assumptions: the payment rate, which is derived

from the average life of the accounts receivable, which is

about 50 days, and the rate of expected credit losses. Based

on the company’s favorable collection experience and very

short-term nature of the receivables, both assumptions are

considered to be highly predictable. Therefore, the company’s

estimated fair value of its retained interests in the pool of

eligible receivables is approximately equal to book value,

less the associated allowance for doubtful accounts. The

discount on the sales of these accounts receivable during

the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,

was $8.6 million, $9.3 million and $3.3 million, respectively.

These discounts are recorded in other income (expense),

net in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. 

Accounts receivable consist principally of trade accounts

receivable from customers and are generally unsecured and

due within 30 days. Credit losses relating to these receivables

consistently have been within management’s expectations.

Expected credit losses are recorded as an allowance for

doubtful accounts in the consolidated balance sheets.

Estimates of expected credit losses are based primarily on

the aging of the accounts receivable balances. The company

records a specific reserve for individual accounts when it

becomes aware of a customer’s inability to meet its financial

obligations, such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or deteri-

oration in the customer’s operating results or financial posi-

tion.  The collection policies and procedures of the company

vary by credit class and prior payment history of customers.

Revenue recognized in excess of billings on services contracts,

or unbilled accounts receivable, was $261.7 million and

$247.9 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Such amounts are included in accounts and notes receivable,

net. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the company had

long-term accounts and notes receivable, net of $42.6 million

and $68.4 million, respectively. Such amounts are included

in other long-term assets in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets.

Unearned income, which is reported as a deduction from

accounts and notes receivable, was $2.8 million and 

$7.7 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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The allowance for doubtful accounts, which is reported as

a deduction from accounts and notes receivable, was $61.2

million and $50.6 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005,

respectively.  The provision for doubtful accounts, which is

reported in selling, general and administrative expenses in the

consolidated statements of income, was $10.6 million, $9.0

million and $1.9 million, in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

8. Income taxes

The tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that

give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and

liabilities at December 31, 2006 and 2005, were as follows:

December 31 (millions) 2006 2005

Deferred tax assets

Tax loss carryforwards $  542.6 $ 563.1

Capitalized research

and development 509.7 540.5

Foreign tax credit carryforwards 229.9 199.6

Other tax credit carryforwards 217.4 213.6

Deferred revenue 163.3 150.9

Capitalized intellectual

property rights 142.0 170.6

Postretirement benefits 77.7 58.0

Pensions 61.6 157.9

Depreciation 51.6 40.3

Restructuring 49.6 3.5

Employee benefits 40.6 41.3

Impairment charge related

to outsourcing assets 15.0 13.3

Other 143.0 130.9

2,244.0 2,283.5

Valuation allowance (1,996.2) (1,982.3)

Total deferred tax assets $  247.8 $  301.2

Deferred tax liabilities

Sales-type leases $  19.8 $ 41.8

Undistributed earnings of NUL –00 82.5

Other 70.1 78.7  

Total deferred tax liabilities $  89.9 $ 203.0

Net deferred tax assets $ 157.9 $    98.2

SFAS No. 109 requires that deferred tax assets be reduced

by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some

portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. In

September 2005, the company recorded a non-cash charge

of $1,573.9 million, or $4.62 per share, to increase the valu-

ation allowance against deferred tax assets. See Note 4.

Following is the total loss before income taxes and the

provision (benefit) for income taxes for the three years

ended December 31, 2006.

Year ended December 31

(millions) 2006 2005 2004

Loss before income taxes

United States $(120.2) $ (220.3) $ (34.7)

Foreign (130.7) 49.4 (41.3)

Total loss before

income taxes $(250.9) $ (170.9) $ (76.0)

Provision (benefit)

for income taxes

Current

United States $ 9.2 $      4.8 $   (8.5)

Foreign 69.7 57.0 10.8

State and local 2.3 2.3 (97.1)

Total 81.2 64.1 (94.8)

Deferred

United States – 1,466.9 19.3

Foreign (53.4) 30.0 (39.1)

Total (53.4) 1,496.9 (19.8)

Total provision (benefit)

for income taxes $   27.8 $1,561.0 $(114.6)

Following is a reconciliation of the provision (benefit) for

income taxes at the United States statutory tax rate to the

provision (benefit) for income taxes as reported:

Year ended December 31

(millions) 2006 2005 2004

United States statutory

income tax (benefit) $(87.8) $   (59.8) $ (26.6)

Change in U.S.

valuation allowance – 1,466.9 –

U.S. losses 51.3 77.1 –

Foreign taxes 62.0 76.8 (9.2)

Tax refund claims, audit

issues and other matters

U.S. Federal – (2.3) (14.0)

U.S. state 2.3 2.3 (63.1)

Other – – (1.7)

Provision (benefit) for

income taxes $27.8 $1,561.0 $(114.6)

Cumulative undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, for

which no U.S. income or foreign withholding taxes have been

recorded, approximated $925 million at December 31, 2006.

As the company intends to indefinitely reinvest all such earn-

ings, no provision has been made for income taxes that may
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become payable upon distribution of such earnings, and it is

not practicable to determine the amount of the related

unrecognized deferred income tax liability. Although there

are no specific plans to distribute the undistributed earnings

in the immediate future, where economically appropriate to

do so, such earnings may be remitted.

Cash paid, net of refunds, during 2006, 2005 and 2004 for

income taxes was $76.6 million, $44.2 million and 

$55.9 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2006, the company has U.S. federal and

state and local tax loss carryforwards and foreign tax loss

carryforwards for certain foreign subsidiaries, the tax effect

of which is approximately $542.6 million. These carryforwards

will expire as follows (in millions): 2007, $15.5; 2008, $13.0;

2009, $10.0; 2010, $11.0; 2011, $19.1; and $474.0 there-

after. The company also has available tax credit carryforwards

of approximately $447.3 million, which will expire as follows

(in millions): 2007, $–; 2008, $13.0; 2009, $26.8; 2010,

$50.8; 2011, $13.0; and $343.7 thereafter.

See Note 4 for information concerning favorable settlements

of tax audit issues in 2004.

The company has approximately $157.9 million of net

deferred tax assets. Failure to achieve forecasted taxable

income might affect the ultimate realization of such assets.

Factors that may affect the company’s ability to achieve suffi-

cient forecasted taxable income include, but are not limited

to, the following: increased competition, a decline in sales or

margins, loss of market share, delays in product availability or

technological obsolescence.

9. Properties

Properties comprise the following:

December 31 (millions) 2006 2005

Land $      4.0 $      4.0

Buildings 114.2 109.3

Machinery and office equipment 787.9 874.0

Internal-use software 223.6 228.9

Rental equipment 103.7 104.6

Total properties $1,233.4 $1,320.8

10. Investments at equity and minority interests

In March 2006, the company sold all of the shares it owned in

Nihon Unisys, Ltd. (NUL), a publicly traded Japanese company.

The company received gross proceeds of $378.1 million and

recognized a pretax gain of $149.9 million which is included in

“Other income (expense), net” in the 2006 consolidated state-

ment of income.  NUL continues to be the exclusive distributor

of the company’s hardware and software in Japan.

At December 31, 2005, the company owned approximately

29% of the voting common stock of NUL.  The company

accounted for this investment by the equity method, and, at

December 31, 2005, the amount recorded in the company’s

books for the investment, after the reversal of a minimum

pension liability adjustment, was $243 million.  During the

years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the com-

pany recorded equity income (loss) related to NUL of $(4.2)

million, $9.1 million and $16.2 million, respectively.  These

amounts were recorded in “Other income (expense), net” in

the company’s consolidated statements of income.  For the

years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, total

direct and indirect sales to NUL were approximately $245

million, $245 million and $240 million, respectively.

In 2005, the company and NUL amended the terms of a

license and support agreement pursuant to which NUL

receives access to certain of the company’s intellectual

property and support services.  Prior to the revised agree-

ment, NUL paid annual royalties to the company based on

a percentage of NUL’s revenue.  In 2004, these royalties

amounted to approximately $103 million.  The royalty fees

are included in the direct and indirect sales disclosed above.

Under the revised arrangement, the company has granted

NUL a perpetual license to the intellectual property, and, in

lieu of an annual royalty, NUL paid the company a one-time

fixed fee of $225 million, one-half of which was paid in

October 2005 and one-half of which was paid in September

2006.  The company is recognizing the $225 million as rev-

enue over the three-year period ending March 31, 2008.  In

addition, the parties have agreed that NUL will pay the com-

pany a fee of $20 million per year for each of the three years

ending March 31, 2008 for the support services it provides

under the license and support agreement.  NUL has an

option to renew the support services arrangement for an

additional two years at the same price.  In prior periods, the

support services fee was included as part of the royalty pay-

ments.

The company owns 51% of Intelligent Processing Solutions

Limited (iPSL), a U.K.-based company, which provides high-vol-

ume payment processing. iPSL is consolidated in the
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company’s financial statements. The minority owners’ inter-

ests in the gains or (losses) of iPSL are reported in other

income (expense), net ($(6.0) million, $36.6 million and

$11.9 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively) in the

company’s consolidated statements of income.

At December 31, 2006, the company’s total outsourcing

assets, net were $401.1 million, approximately $206.6

million of which relate to iPSL. In January 2006, the company

and the minority shareholders executed agreements whereby

the company retains its current 51% ownership interest in

iPSL and the fees charged under the outsourcing services

agreements increased beginning January 1, 2006. The esti-

mated increase in iPSL revenue resulting from the amended

outsourcing services agreements, together with its existing

revenue, is currently estimated to provide the company with

sufficient cash flow to recover all of iPSL’s outsourcing

assets. The company prepares its cash flow estimates

based on assumptions that it believes to be reasonable

but are also inherently uncertain. Actual future cash flows

could differ from these estimates.

11. Debt

Long-term debt is comprised of the following:

December 31 (millions) 2006 2005

8% senior notes due 2012 $  400.0 $ 400.0

6 7⁄8% senior notes due 2010 300.0 300.0

7 7⁄8% senior notes due 2008 200.0 200.0

8 1⁄2% senior notes due 2015 150.0 150.0

8 1⁄8% senior notes –0.0 57.9

Other, net of unamortized

discounts (.4) (.1)

Total 1,049.6 1,107.8

Less – current maturities .5 58.8

Total long-term debt $1,049.1 $1,049.0

Total long-term debt maturities in 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010

and 2011 are $.5 million, $200.0 million, $– million, $300.0

million and $– million, respectively.

Cash paid during 2006, 2005 and 2004 for interest was

$91.3 million, $73.1 million and $83.2 million, respectively.

Capitalized interest expense during 2006, 2005 and 2004 was

$9.9 million, $15.0 million and $16.3 million, respectively.

In September 2005, the company issued $400.0 million of

8% senior notes due 2012 and $150.0 million of 8 1/2%

senior notes due 2015. In June 2006, the company retired

at maturity all $57.9 million of its remaining 8 1/8% senior

notes. In September and October 2005, the company repaid

$342.1 million of its $400 million 8 1⁄8% senior notes due

2006 pursuant to a cash tender offer. The company recorded

expense of $10.7 million in other income (expense), net in

its consolidated statement of income related to the tender

offer. On January 18, 2005, the company paid $150 million

from cash on hand to retire at maturity all of its 7 1⁄4%

senior notes.

The company has a three-year, secured revolving credit facili-

ty which expires in 2009 that provides for loans and letters

of credit up to an aggregate of $275 million.  Borrowings

under the facility bear interest based on short-term rates and

the company’s credit rating.  The credit agreement contains

customary representations and warranties, including no

material adverse change in the company’s business, results

of operations or financial condition.  It also contains financial

covenants requiring the company to maintain certain interest

coverage, leverage and asset coverage ratios and a minimum

amount of liquidity, which could reduce the amount the com-

pany is able to borrow.  The credit facility also includes

covenants limiting liens, mergers, asset sales, dividends and

the incurrence of debt.  Events of default include non-pay-

ment, failure to perform covenants, materially incorrect

representations and warranties, change of control and

default under other debt aggregating at least $25 million.

If an event of default were to occur under the credit agree-

ment, the lenders would be entitled to declare all amounts

borrowed under it immediately due and payable.  The occur-

rence of an event of default under the credit agreement

could also cause the acceleration of obligations under cer-

tain other agreements and the termination of the company’s

U.S. trade accounts receivable facility.  Also, the credit facility

may be terminated if the 7 7/8% senior notes due 2008 have

not been repaid, refinanced or defeased by payment of

amounts due to an escrow agent on or prior to January 1,

2008.  The credit facility is secured by the company’s assets,

except that the collateral does not include accounts receiv-

able that are subject to the receivable facility, U.S. real estate

or the stock or indebtedness of the company’s U.S. operating

subsidiaries.  As of December 31, 2006, there were letters of

credit of approximately $50.9 million issued under the facility

and there were no cash borrowings.  In addition, the company

and certain international subsidiaries have access to uncom-

mitted lines of credit from various banks.
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12. Other liabilities

Other accrued liabilities (current) are comprised of the following:

December 31 (millions) 2006 2005

Deferred revenue $  721.9 $ 685.1

Payrolls and commissions 171.9 120.3

Restructuring 135.4 22.6

Accrued vacations 123.0 132.3

Income taxes 53.8 47.2

Taxes other than income taxes 81.0 95.6

Postretirement 29.3 –

Other 152.8 190.2

Total other accrued liabilities $1,469.1 $1,293.3

In addition, other long-term liabilities include deferred revenue

of $384.0 million and $413.9 million at December 31, 2006

and 2005, respectively.

13. Product warranty

For equipment manufactured by the company, the company

warrants that it will substantially conform to relevant published

specifications for 12 months after shipment to the customer.

The company will repair or replace, at its option and expense,

items of equipment that do not meet this warranty. For compa-

ny software, the company warrants that it will conform sub-

stantially to then-current published functional specifications for

90 days from customer’s receipt. The company will provide a

workaround or correction for material errors in its software that

prevent its use in a production environment.

The company estimates the costs that may be incurred under

its warranties and records a liability in the amount of such

costs at the time revenue is recognized. Factors that affect the

company’s warranty liability include the number of units sold,

historical and anticipated rates of warranty claims and cost

per claim. The company quarterly assesses the adequacy of

its recorded warranty liabilities and adjusts the amounts as

necessary. Presented below is a reconciliation of the aggregate

product warranty liability:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2006 2005

Balance at January 1 $8.0 $11.6

Accruals for warranties

issued during the period 8.7 8.8

Settlements made during the period (8.7) (10.3)

Changes in liability for pre-existing

warranties during the period,

including expirations .2 (2.1)

Balance at December 31 $8.2 $  8.0

14. Rental expense and commitments

Rental expense, less income from subleases, for 2006, 2005

and 2004 was $170.0 million, $182.6 million and 

$184.7 million, respectively.

Minimum net rental commitments under noncancelable oper-

ating leases outstanding at December 31, 2006, substantially

all of which relate to real properties, were as follows: 2007,

$130.1 million; 2008, $109.3 million; 2009, $83.5 million;

2010, $67.0 million; 2011, $47.8 million; and $221.8 million

thereafter. Such rental commitments have been reduced by

minimum sublease rentals of $108.1 million, due in the

future under noncancelable subleases.

In 2003, the company entered into a lease for its facility at

Malvern, Pa. The lease has a 60-month term expiring in June

2008. Under the lease, the company has the option to pur-

chase the facility at any time for approximately $34 million.

In addition, if the company does not exercise its purchase

option and the lessor sells the facility at the end of the lease

term for a price that is less than approximately $34 million,

the company will be required to guarantee the lessor a resid-

ual value on the property of up to $29 million. The lessor is a

substantive independent leasing company that does not have

the characteristics of a variable interest entity as defined by

FIN 46 and is therefore not consolidated by the company.

The company has accounted for the lease as an operating

lease and, therefore, neither the leased facility nor the related

debt is reported in the company’s accompanying consolidated

balance sheets. As stated above, under the lease, the compa-

ny is required to provide a guaranteed residual value on the

facility of up to $29 million to the lessor at the end of the 60-

month lease term. The company recognized a liability of

approximately $1 million for the related residual value guaran-

tee. The value of the guarantee was determined by computing

the estimated present value of probability-weighted cash flows

that might be expended under the guarantee, discounted

using the company’s incremental borrowing rate of approxi-

mately 6.5%. The company has recorded a liability for the fair

value of the obligation with a corresponding asset recorded as

prepaid rent, which will be amortized to rental expense over

the lease term. The liability will be subsequently assessed and

adjusted to fair value as necessary.

At December 31, 2006, the company had outstanding

standby letters of credit and surety bonds of approximately

$240 million related to performance and payment guaran-

tees. On the basis of experience with these arrangements,

the company believes that any obligations that may arise

will not be material.
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15. Financial instruments

Due to its foreign operations, the company is exposed to the

effects of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on the

U.S. dollar. The company uses derivative financial instruments

to manage its exposure to market risks from changes in for-

eign currency exchange rates. The derivative instruments

used are foreign exchange forward contracts and foreign

exchange options.

Certain of the company’s qualifying derivative financial

instruments have been designated as cash flow hedging

instruments. Such instruments are used to manage the

company’s currency exchange rate risks for forecasted

transactions involving intercompany sales and royalties.

For the forecasted intercompany transactions, the company

generally enters into derivative financial instruments for a

six-month period by initially purchasing a three-month foreign

exchange option, which, at expiration, is replaced with a

three-month foreign exchange forward contract.

The company recognizes the fair value of its cash flow hedge

derivatives as either assets or liabilities in its consolidated bal-

ance sheets. Changes in the fair value related to the effective

portion of such derivatives are recognized in other comprehen-

sive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings, at

which time the accumulated gain or loss is reclassified out of

other comprehensive income and into earnings. The ineffective

portion of such derivatives’ change in fair value is immediately

recognized in earnings. The ineffective amount related to cash

flow hedge derivatives for intercompany transactions was

immaterial during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005

and 2004. Both the amounts reclassified out of other compre-

hensive income and into earnings and the ineffectiveness

recognized in earnings related to cash flow hedge derivatives

for forecasted intercompany transactions are recognized in

cost of revenue. There were no cash flow hedges in place at

December 31, 2006, and therefore the accumulated income

or loss in other comprehensive income related to cash flow

hedges at December 31, 2006 was zero.

When a cash flow hedge is discontinued because it is probable

that the original forecasted transaction will not occur by the end

of the original specified time period, the company is required to

reclassify any gains or losses out of other comprehensive

income and into earnings. The amount of such reclassifications

during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

was immaterial.

In addition to the cash flow hedge derivatives mentioned

above, the company enters into foreign exchange forward con-

tracts that have not been designated as hedging instruments.

Such contracts generally have maturities of one month and are

used by the company to manage its exposure to changes in

foreign currency exchange rates principally on intercompany

accounts. The fair value of such instruments is recognized

as either assets or liabilities in the company’s consolidated

balance sheets, and changes in the fair value are recognized

immediately in earnings in other income (expense), net in the

company’s consolidated statements of income.

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and

2004, the company recognized foreign exchange transac-

tion gains or (losses) in other income (expense), net in its

consolidated statements of income of $8.5 million, $6.5

million and $(5.2) million, respectively.

Financial instruments also include temporary cash invest-

ments and customer accounts receivable. Temporary invest-

ments are placed with creditworthy financial institutions,

primarily in money market funds and time deposits.  At

December 31, 2006, the company’s cash equivalents

principally have maturities of less than one month. Due to the

short maturities of these instruments, they are carried on the

consolidated balance sheets at cost plus accrued interest,

which approximates market value. Realized gains or losses

during 2006 and 2005, as well as unrealized gains or losses

at December 31, 2006, were immaterial. Receivables are due

from a large number of customers that are dispersed world-

wide across many industries. At December 31, 2006 and

2005, the company had no significant concentrations of credit

risk. At December 31, 2006, the company had approximately

$300 million of receivables due from various U.S. federal gov-

ernmental agencies. At December 31, 2006, the carrying

amount of cash and cash equivalents, notes payable and

long-term debt approximated fair value.
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16. Litigation and contingencies

There are various lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceed-

ings that have been brought or asserted against the company,

which arise in the ordinary course of business. In accordance

with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” the company

records a provision for these matters when it is both probable

that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss

can be reasonably estimated. Any provisions are reviewed at

least quarterly and are adjusted to reflect the impact and sta-

tus of settlements, rulings, advice of counsel and other infor-

mation pertinent to a particular matter.

In 2002, the company and the Transportation Security

Administration (TSA) entered into a competitively awarded con-

tract providing for the establishment of secure information

technology environments in airports.  The Defense Contract

Audit Agency (DCAA), at the request of TSA, reviewed contract

performance and raised some government contracting issues.

The company continues to work to address certain contracts

administration issues raised by the DCAA.  In addition, the

company has learned that the Civil Division of the Department

of Justice, working with the Inspector General’s Office of the

Department of Homeland Security, is reviewing issues raised

by the DCAA relating to labor categorization and overtime on

the TSA contract.  The company understands that the Civil

Division is at an early stage in its review.  The company is

working cooperatively with the Civil Division.  The company

does not know whether the Civil Division will pursue the matter,

or, if pursued, what effect this might have on the company.

Although the ultimate results of these lawsuits, claims,

investigations and proceedings are not currently deter-

minable, the company believes that at December 31, 2006,

it has adequate provisions for any such matters.

17. Segment information

The company has two business segments: Services and

Technology. The products and services of each segment are

marketed throughout the world to commercial businesses

and governments. Revenue classifications by segment are as

follows: Services – systems integration and consulting, outsourc-

ing, infrastructure services and core maintenance; Technology –

enterprise-class servers and specialized technologies.

The accounting policies of each business segment are the

same as those described in the summary of significant

accounting policies. Intersegment sales and transfers are

priced as if the sales or transfers were to third parties.

Accordingly, the Technology segment recognizes intersegment

revenue and manufacturing profit on hardware and software

shipments to customers under Services contracts. The

Services segment, in turn, recognizes customer revenue and

marketing profit on such shipments of company hardware and

software to customers. The Services segment also includes

the sale of hardware and software products sourced from third

parties that are sold to customers through the company’s

Services channels. In the company’s consolidated statements

of income, the manufacturing costs of products sourced from

the Technology segment and sold to Services customers are

reported in cost of revenue for Services. 

Also included in the Technology segment’s sales and oper-

ating profit are sales of hardware and software sold to the

Services segment for internal use in Services engage-

ments. The amount of such profit included in operating

income of the Technology segment for the years ended

December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, was $16.4 million,

$16.1 million and $17.9 million, respectively. The profit on

these transactions is eliminated in Corporate.

The company evaluates business segment performance

on operating income exclusive of restructuring charges and

unusual and nonrecurring items, which are included in

Corporate. All corporate and centrally incurred costs are

allocated to the business segments, based principally on

revenue, employees, square footage or usage.

No single customer accounts for more than 10% of revenue.

Revenue from various agencies of the U.S. Government, which

is reported in both business segments, was approximately

$921 million, $980 million and $900 million in 2006, 2005

and 2004, respectively. 

Corporate assets are principally cash and cash equivalents,

prepaid postretirement assets and deferred income taxes.

The expense or income related to corporate assets is allocat-

ed to the business segments. In addition, corporate assets

include an offset for interests in accounts receivable that

have been recorded as sales in accordance with SFAS No.

140, because such receivables are included in the assets of

the business segments.
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A summary of the company’s operations by business

segment for 2006, 2005 and 2004 is presented below:

(millions) Total Corporate Services Technology

2006

Customer revenue $5,757.2 $4,917.2 $ 840.0

Intersegment $(250.3) 14.8 235.5

Total revenue $5,757.2 $(250.3) $4,932.0 $1,075.5

Operating income

(loss) $ (326.8) $(322.0) $  (22.6) $ 17.8

Depreciation and

amortization 388.5 264.5 124.0

Total assets 4,037.9 1,132.6 2,222.2 683.1

Investments

at equity .1 .1

Capital expenditures 256.5 5.3 144.7 106.5

2005

Customer revenue $5,758.7 $4,788.5 $ -- 970.2

Intersegment $(259.6) 18.7 240.9

Total revenue $5,758.7 $(259.6) $4,807.2 $1,211.1

Operating income

(loss) $ (162.4) $ (6.4) $(207.0) $51.0

Depreciation and

amortization 374.2 244.6 129.6

Total assets 4,028.9 819.0 2,310.2 899.7

Investments at

equity 207.8 1.2 206.6

Capital expenditures 381.5 11.5 247.0 123.0

2004

Customer revenue $5,820.7 $4,724.7 $1,096.0

Intersegment $(251.8) 18.1 233.7

Total revenue $5,820.7 $(251.8) $4,742.8 $1,329.7

Operating income

(loss) $ (34.8) $  (88.0) $  (82.8) $  136.0

Depreciation and

amortization 394.0 244.5 149.5

Total assets 5,620.9 2,334.7 2,364.9 921.3

Investments at

equity 197.1 1.1 196.0

Capital expenditures 434.1 14.4 291.9 127.8

In 2004, the Services segment operating loss included an

impairment charge of $125.6 million (see Note 4). The com-

pany also recognized an impairment charge of approximately

$11 million in 2004 in the Services segment operating

loss for the write-down to net realizable value of certain

contract-related assets.

Customer revenue by classes of similar products or services,

by segment, is presented below:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2006 2005 2004

Services

Systems integration

and consulting $1,591.8 $1,654.4 $1,651.7

Outsourcing 1,916.2 1,749.1 1,649.7

Infrastructure services 948.2 867.1 844.6

Core maintenance 461.0 517.9 578.7

4,917.2 4,788.5 4,724.7

Technology

Enterprise-class servers 668.6 786.1 870.3

Specialized technologies 171.4 184.1 225.7

840.0 970.2 1,096.0

Total $5,757.2 $5,758.7 $5,820.7

Presented below is a reconciliation of total business

segment operating income (loss) to consolidated loss

before income taxes:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2006 2005 2004

Total segment operating

income (loss) $ (4.8) $(156.0) $  53.2

Interest expense (77.2) (64.7) (69.0)

Other income (expense), net 150.3 56.2 27.8

Cost reduction charges (330.1) –0.0 (82.0)

Corporate and eliminations 10.9 (6.4) (6.0)

Total loss before income taxes $(250.9) $(170.9) $(76.0)

Presented below is a reconciliation of total business segment

assets to consolidated assets:

December 31 (millions) 2006 2005 2004

Total segment assets $2,905.3 $3,209.9 $3,286.2

Cash and cash equivalents 719.3 642.5 660.5

Prepaid postretirement assets 250.1 66.1 52.5

Deferred income taxes 221.3 206.6 1,686.4

Elimination for sale

of receivables (168.7) (239.1) (249.8)

Other corporate assets 110.6 142.9 185.1

Total assets $4,037.9 $4,028.9 $5,620.9
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Geographic information about the company’s revenue, which

is principally based on location of the selling organization,

properties and outsourcing assets is presented below:

Year ended December 31

(millions) 2006 2005 2004

Revenue

United States $2,539.9 $2,651.6 $2,636.0

United Kingdom 873.2 826.4 898.9

Other foreign 2,344.1 2,280.7 2,285.8

Total $5,757.2 $5,758.7 $5,820.7

Properties, net

United States $   211.9 $   258.7 $  275.5

United Kingdom 45.2 44.3 54.3

Other foreign 84.2 83.4 94.3

Total $   341.3 $   386.4 $  424.1

Outsourcing assets, net

United States $   130.8 $   141.7 $  104.1

United Kingdom* 221.4 224.5 285.7

Other foreign 48.9 49.8 42.1

Total $   401.1 $   416.0 $  431.9

*Amounts relate principally to iPSL, a 51%-owned U.K.-based company. See Note 10.

18. Employee plans

Stock plans Under the company’s stockholder approved

stock-based plans, stock options, stock appreciation rights,

restricted stock and restricted stock units may be granted to

officers, directors and other key employees. At December 31,

2006, 5.9 million shares of unissued common stock of the

company were available for granting under these plans. 

As of December 31, 2006, the company has granted non-

qualified stock options and restricted stock units under these

plans. Prior to January 1, 2006, the company applied the

recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No.

25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related

interpretations in accounting for those plans, whereby for

stock options, at the date of grant, no compensation expense

was reflected in income, as all stock options granted had an

exercise price equal to or greater than the market value of the

underlying common stock on the date of grant. Pro forma

information regarding net income and earnings per share was

provided in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards (SFAS) No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based

Compensation–Transition and Disclosure” (SFAS No. 148), as

if the fair value method defined by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting

for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS No. 123) had been

applied to stock-based compensation.  For purposes of the

pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of stock

options was amortized to expense over the options’ vesting

period.

Effective January 1, 2006, the company adopted SFAS No.

123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS No.

123R), which replaces SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB

Opinion No. 25.  SFAS No. 123R requires all share-based

payments to employees, including grants of employee stock

options, to be recognized in the financial statements based

on their fair values.  The company adopted SFAS No. 123R

using the modified-prospective transition method, which

requires the company, beginning January 1, 2006 and there-

after, to expense the grant date fair value of all share-based

awards over their remaining vesting periods to the extent

the awards were not fully vested as of the date of adoption

and to expense the fair value of all share-based awards

granted subsequent to December 31, 2005 over their

requisite service periods.  Stock-based compensation

expense for all share-based payment awards granted

after January 1, 2006 is based on the grant-date fair value

estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No.

123R.  The company recognizes compensation cost net

of a forfeiture rate and recognizes the compensation cost

for only those awards expected to vest on a straight-line

basis over the requisite service period of the award, which

is generally the vesting term.  The company estimated the

forfeiture rate based on its historical experience and its

expectations about future forfeitures.  As required under the

modified-prospective transition method, prior periods have

not been restated.  In March 2005, the Securities and

Exchange Commission (SEC) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin

No. 107 (SAB 107) regarding the SEC’s interpretation of

SFAS No. 123R and the valuation of share-based payments

for public companies.  The company has applied the provi-

sions of SAB 107 in its adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

The company records share-based payment expense in

selling, general and administrative expenses.

The company’s stock option and time-based restricted stock

unit grants include a provision that if termination of employ-

ment occurs after the participant has attained age 55 and

completed 5 years of service with the company, or for

directors, the completion of 5 years of service as a director,

the participant shall continue to vest in each of his or her

awards in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in

the applicable award agreement.  For purposes of the 
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pro forma information required to be disclosed by SFAS No.

123, the company recognized compensation expense over

the vesting period.  Under SFAS No. 123R, compensation

expense is recognized over the period through the date

that the employee first becomes eligible to retire and is no

longer required to provide service to earn the award.

For grants prior to January 1, 2006, compensation expense

continues to be recognized under the prior method;

compensation expense for awards granted after December

31, 2005 is recognized over the period to the date the

employee first becomes eligible for retirement.

Options have been granted to purchase the company’s

common stock at an exercise price equal to or greater than

the fair market value at the date of grant.  Options granted

before January 1, 2005 generally have a maximum duration

of ten years and were exercisable in annual installments over

a four-year period following date of grant.  Stock options

granted after January 1, 2005 generally have a maximum

duration of five years and become exercisable in annual

installments over a three-year period following date of grant.

On September 23, 2005, the company accelerated the vest-

ing of all of its then-issued unvested stock options.

On December 19, 2005, the company granted fully vested

stock options to purchase a total of 3.4 million shares of the

company’s common stock at an exercise price of $6.05,

the fair market value of the company’s common stock on

December 19, 2005.

Prior to January 1, 2006, restricted stock units had been grant-

ed and were subject to forfeiture upon employment termina-

tion prior to the release of the restrictions.  Compensation

expense resulting from these awards is recognized as expense

ratably from the date of grant until the date the restrictions

lapse and is based on the fair market value of the shares at

the date of grant.

For stock options issued both before and after adoption of

SFAS No. 123R, the fair value is estimated at the date of grant

using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.  As part of its

adoption of SFAS No. 123R, for stock options issued after

December 31, 2005, the company reevaluated its assump-

tions in estimating the fair value of stock options granted.

Principal assumptions used are as follows: (a) expected volatili-

ty for the company’s stock price is based on historical volatility

and implied market volatility, (b) historical exercise data is used

to estimate the options’ expected term, which represents the

period of time that the options granted are expected to be

outstanding, and (c) the risk-free interest rate is the rate on

zero-coupon U.S. government issues with a remaining term

equal to the expected life of the options.  The company

recognizes compensation expense for the fair value of stock

options, which have graded vesting, on the straight-line basis

over the requisite service period of the awards.

The fair value of stock option awards was estimated using

the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following

assumptions and weighted-average fair values as follows:

Year Ended December 31 2006 2005 2004

Weighted-average

fair value of grant $2.46 $2.93 $7.17

Risk-free interest rate 4.35% 3.82% 3.13%

Expected volatility 45.88% 55.00% 55.00%

Expected life of

options in years 3.67 3.50 5.00

Expected dividend yield – – –

Prior to January 1, 2006, the company would grant an annual

stock option award to officers, directors and other key

employees generally in the first quarter of a year.  For 2006,

this annual stock option award was replaced with restricted

stock unit awards.  The company currently expects to contin-

ue to grant stock option awards, principally to newly hired

individuals.  The restricted stock unit awards granted in

March of 2006 contain both time-based units (25% of the

grant) and performance-based units (75% of the grant).

The time-based units vest in three equal annual installments

beginning with the first anniversary of the grant, and the

performance-based units vest in three equal annual install-

ments beginning with the first anniversary of the grant, based

upon the achievement of pretax profit and revenue growth

rate goals in 2006, 2006-2007, and 2006-2008, for each

installment, respectively.  Each performance-based unit will

vest into zero to 1.5 shares depending on the degree to

which the performance goals are met.  Compensation

expense resulting from these awards is recognized as

expense ratably for each installment from the date of grant

until the date the restrictions lapse and is based on the fair

market value at the date of grant and the probability of

achievement of the specific performance-related goals.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the company

recorded $6.7 million of share-based compensation expense,

which is comprised of $6.1 million of restricted stock unit

expense and $.6 million of stock option expense.  During the

years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, $.6 million and

$1.4 million, respectively, were charged to income related to

restricted stock units.
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The adoption of SFAS No. 123R had an immaterial impact to

income before income taxes and net income for the year

ended December 31, 2006.

A summary of stock option activity for the year ended

December 31, 2006 follows (shares in thousands):

Options Shares

Outstanding at

Dec. 31, 2005 47,536 $16.54

Granted 570 6.29

Exercised (247) 6.43

Forfeited

and expired (4,669) 16.79

Outstanding at

Dec. 31, 2006 43,190 16.44 4.19 $9.1

Vested and

expected to vest

at Dec. 31, 2006 43,190 16.44 4.19 $9.1

Exercisable at

Dec. 31, 2006 42,609 16.58 4.19 $8.1

The aggregate intrinsic value in the above table reflects the total

pretax intrinsic value (the difference between the company’s

closing stock price on the last trading day of the period and the

exercise price of the options, multiplied by the number of in-the-

money stock options) that would have been received by the

option holders had all option holders exercised their options on

December 31, 2006.  The intrinsic value of the company’s

stock options changes based on the closing price of the com-

pany’s stock.  The total intrinsic value of options exercised for

the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was immateri-

al.  As of December 31, 2006, $1.5 million of total unrecog-

nized compensation cost related to stock options is expected

to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.4 years.

A summary of restricted stock unit activity for the year ended

December 31, 2006 follows (shares in thousands):

Outstanding at

December 31, 2005 352 $8.89

Granted 1,950 6.55

Vested (135) 7.55

Forfeited and expired (204) 8.90

Outstanding at

December 31, 2006 1,963 6.66

The fair value of restricted stock units is determined based on

the average of the high and low trading price of the company’s

common shares on the date of grant.  The weighted-average

grant-date fair value of restricted stock units granted during the

years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $6.55 and

$7.08, respectively.  As of December 31, 2006, there was

$6.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related

to outstanding restricted stock units granted under the compa-

ny’s plans.  That cost is expected to be recognized over a

weighted-average period of 1.3 years.  The total fair value of

restricted share units vested during the year ended December

31, 2006 was $.9 million. No restricted share units vested

during the year ended December 31, 2005.  

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the fol-

lowing table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings

per share if the company had applied the fair value recogni-

tion provisions of SFAS No. 123 (in millions of dollars, except

per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31 2005 2004

Net income (loss) as reported $(1,731.9) $38.6

Deduct total stock-based employee

compensation expense determined

under fair value method for all awards,

net of tax (73.5) (32.6)

Pro forma net income (loss) $(1,805.4) $ 6.0

Earnings (loss) per share

Basic - as reported $      (5.09) $   .12

Basic - pro forma $      (5.31) $   .02

Diluted - as reported $      (5.09) $   .11

Diluted - pro forma $      (5.31) $   .02

Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options or upon

lapse of restrictions on restricted stock units are newly issued

shares.  Cash received from the exercise of stock options for

the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $1.6 mil-

lion and $.3 million, respectively.  The company is currently

not recognizing any tax benefits from the exercise of stock

options or upon issuance of stock upon lapse of restrictions

on restricted stock units in light of its tax position.  Prior to

the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the company presented such

tax benefits as operating cash flows.  Upon the adoption of

SFAS No. 123R, tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in

excess of the compensation costs recognized are classified

as financing cash flows. 

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

($ in millions)

Restricted
Stock Units

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair Value
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Prior to April 1, 2005, the company had a worldwide Employee

Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), which enabled substantially all

regular employees to purchase shares of the company’s com-

mon stock through payroll deductions of up to 10% of eligible

pay with a limit of $25,000 per employee. The price the

employee paid was 85% of the market price at the beginning

or end of a calendar quarter, whichever was lower. Effective

April 1, 2005, the company discontinued such plan. During

the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, employees

purchased newly issued shares from the company for $12.5

million and $27.4 million, respectively.

U.S. employees are eligible to participate in an employee

savings plan. Under this plan, employees may contribute a

percentage of their pay for investment in various investment

alternatives. Company matching contributions of up to 2 per-

cent of pay are made in the form of newly issued shares of

company common stock. The charge to income related to the

company match for the years ended December 31, 2006,

2005 and 2004, was $18.3 million, $19.3 million and $19.7

million, respectively.  Effective January 1, 2007, the company

is increasing its matching contribution to 100 percent of the

first 6 percent of eligible pay contributed by plan participants.

The company has defined contribution plans in certain

locations outside the United States.  The charge to income

related to these plans was $24.6 million, $27.1 million and

$28.3 million, for the years ended December 31, 2006,

2005 and 2004, respectively.  For plans outside the United

States, company contributions are made in cash.

Retirement benefits On March 17, 2006, the company adopt-

ed changes to its U.S. defined benefit pension plans effective

December 31, 2006.  The changes affect most U.S. employ-

ees and senior management and include ending the accrual of

future benefits in the company’s defined benefit pension plans

for employees effective December 31, 2006.  There will be no

new entrants to the plans after that date.  The changes do not

affect the vested accrued pension benefits of current and for-

mer employees, including retirees.  As a result of the amend-

ment to stop accruals for future benefits in its U.S. defined

benefit pension plans, the company recorded a pretax curtail-

ment gain of $45.0 million in the first quarter of 2006.

The company has non-qualified compensation plans, which

allow certain highly compensated employees and directors to

defer the receipt of a portion of their salary, bonus and fees.

Participants can earn a return on their deferred balance that is

based on hypothetical investments in various investment vehi-

cles.  Changes in the market value of these investments are

reflected as an adjustment to the liability with an offset to

expense.  As of December 31, 2006, the liability to the partici-

pants of these plans was $19.4 million.  This amount reflects

the accumulated participant deferrals and earnings thereon as

of that date.  The company makes no contributions to the

deferred compensation plans and remains contingently liable

to the participants.
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Retirement plans’ funded status and amounts recognized in the company’s consolidated balance sheets at

December 31, 2006 and 2005, follow:

U.S. Plans International Plans

December 31 (millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005

Change in projected benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $4,846.9 $4,592.5 $2,242.8 $2,239.4

Service cost 61.4 69.3 48.4 47.3

Interest cost 278.3 262.9 112.6 106.7

Plan participants’ contributions 10.4 10.2

Plan amendments (26.9) .1 (9.4) (5.7)

Actuarial (gain) loss (73.9) 222.3 (148.6) 176.8

Benefits paid (314.0) (300.2) (80.2) (61.8)

Foreign currency translation adjustments 288.1 (279.3)

Other* 9.2

Benefit obligation at end of year $4,771.8 $4,846.9 $2,464.1 $2,242.8

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $4,567.4 $4,363.9 $1,693.3 $1,623.9

Actual return on plan assets 668.4 497.8 129.7 252.6

Employer contribution 9.5 5.9 68.5 65.7

Plan participants’ contributions 10.4 10.2

Benefits paid (314.0) (300.2) (80.2) (61.8)

Foreign currency translation adjustments 226.9 (209.3)

Other* 12.0

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $4,931.3 $4,567.4 $2,048.6 $1,693.3

Funded status at end of year $159.5 $ (279.5) $ (415.5) $ (549.5)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss 1,512.6 730.8

Unrecognized prior service (benefit) cost (47.0) 2.3

Net amount recognized $ 159.5 $1,186.1 $ (415.5) $  183.6

Amounts recognized in the consolidated

balance sheets consist of:

Prepaid postretirement assets $ 250.1 $    66.1

Other long-term assets 3.5

Other accrued liabilities (7.5)

Long-term postretirement liabilities (83.1) $ (246.5) $ (415.5) (260.4)

Total funded status $ 159.5 $ (415.5)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax**

Net loss $ 989.1 $   503.4

Prior service cost $ 1.0

Minimum pension liability 1,432.6 374.4

$1,186.1 $ 183.6

Accumulated benefit obligation $4,771.8 $4,813.9 $2,144.0 $1,894.8

*  Principally represents amounts of pension assets and liabilities assumed by the company at the inception of certain outsourcing contracts related to the customers’
employees hired by the company.

**In addition to amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss relating to company pension plans, the company recorded $36.4 million at December 31, 2005
in other comprehensive loss related to its share of NUL’s minimum pension liability adjustment. (See Note 10.)
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Net periodic pension cost for 2006, 2005 and 2004 includes the following components:

U.S. Plans International Plans

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Service cost $ 61.4 $ 69.3 $   67.2 $    48.4 $   47.3 $   49.2

Interest cost 278.3 262.9 264.3 112.6 106.7 96.0

Expected return on plan assets (367.2) (361.0) (378.9) (122.7) (117.6) (115.8)

Amortization of prior service (benefit) cost (1.9) (7.6) (7.7) .9 1.5 1.5

Recognized net actuarial loss (gain) 121.3 140.4 93.2 49.4 39.2 24.6

Settlement/curtailment (gain) loss (45.0)

Net periodic pension cost $ 46.9 $ 104.0 $   38.1 $    88.6 $   77.1 $   55.5

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate* 5.84/6.29% 5.88% 6.25% 4.77% 5.12% 5.30%

Rate of compensation increase 4.58% 4.62% 4.60% 3.12% 3.14% 3.00%

Expected long-term rate of return on assets** 8.75% 8.75% 8.75% 7.25% 7.43% 7.51%

* The dual rate for 2006 was caused by the remeasurement of the U.S. plans in March.

** For 2007, the company has assumed that the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for its U.S. defined benefit pension plan will be 8.75%.

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate 6.02% 5.84% 5.88% 5.03% 4.77% 5.12%

Rate of compensation increase N/A 4.58% 4.62% 3.13% 3.12% 3.14%
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Information for defined benefit retirement plans with an

accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at

December 31, 2006 and 2005, follows:

December 31 (millions) 2006 2005

Accumulated benefit obligation $1,179.3 $6,155.8

Fair value of plan assets 916.7 5,656.0

Information for defined benefit retirement plans with a

projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at

December 31, 2006 and 2005, follows:

December 31 (millions) 2006 2005

Projected benefit obligation $2,430.4 $7,089.7

Fair value of plan assets 1,924.3 6,260.7

The expected pretax amortization in 2007 of net periodic

pension cost is as follows:  net loss, $132.4 million; and

prior service cost, $.6 million.

The asset allocation for the defined benefit pension plans

at December 31, 2006 and 2005, follows:

U.S. Int’l

December 31 2006 2005 2006 2005

Asset Category

Equity securities 70% 70% 54% 53%

Debt securities 25 24 45 46

Real estate 4 5 0 0

Cash 1 1 1 1

Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

The company’s investment policy targets and ranges for

each asset category are as follows:

U.S. Int’l

Asset Category Target Range Target Range

Equity securities 68% 65-71% 51% 46-56%

Debt securities 26% 23-29% 48% 43-53%

Real estate 6% 3-9% 0% 0-2%

Cash 0% 0-5% 1% 0-4%

The company periodically reviews its asset allocation, taking

into consideration plan liabilities, local regulatory require-

ments, plan payment streams and then-current capital market

assumptions. The actual asset allocation for each plan is

monitored at least quarterly, relative to the established policy

targets and ranges. If the actual asset allocation is close to or
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out of any of the ranges, a review is conducted. Rebalancing

will occur toward the target allocation, with due consideration

given to the liquidity of the investments and transaction costs.

The objectives of the company’s investment strategies are

as follows: (a) to provide a total return that, over the long

term, increases the ratio of plan assets to liabilities by

maximizing investment return on assets, at a level of risk

deemed appropriate, (b) to maximize return on assets by

investing primarily in equity securities in the U.S. and for

international plans by investing in appropriate asset classes,

subject to the constraints of each plan design and local

regulations, (c) to diversify investments within asset classes

to reduce the impact of losses in single investments, and

(d) for the U.S. plan to invest in compliance with the

Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA),

as amended and any subsequent applicable regulations and

laws, and for international plans to invest in a prudent man-

ner in compliance with local applicable regulations and laws.

The company sets the expected long-term rate of return

based on the expected long-term return of the various asset

categories in which it invests. The company considered the

current expectations for future returns and the actual histori-

cal returns of each asset class. Also, since the company’s

investment policy is to actively manage certain asset classes

where the potential exists to outperform the broader market,

the expected returns for those asset classes were adjusted

to reflect the expected additional returns.

The company expects to make cash contributions of approxi-

mately $75 million to its worldwide defined benefit pension

plans (principally international plans) in 2007. In accordance

with regulations governing contributions to U.S. defined benefit

pension plans, the company is not required to fund its U.S.

qualified defined benefit pension plan in 2007.

As of December 31, 2006, the following benefit payments,

which reflect expected future service, are expected to be

paid from the defined benefit pension plans:

Year ending December 31 (millions) U.S. Int’l

2007 $  322.4 $  79.8

2008 329.1 84.1

2009 337.4 88.9

2010 345.7 94.6

2011 354.0 101.4

2012 - 2016 1,888.3 661.2

Other postretirement benefits A reconciliation of the benefit

obligation, fair value of the plan assets and the funded status

of the postretirement benefit plan at December 31, 2006 and

2005, follows:

December 31 (millions) 2006 2005

Change in accumulated benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $  214.9 $ 235.4

Interest cost 12.7 13.4

Plan participants’ contributions 24.4 28.0

Amendments (.5) –00

Actuarial loss .6 5.0

Federal drug subsidy 3.4 (11.3)

Benefits paid (51.8) (55.6)

Benefit obligation at end of year $  203.7 $ 214.9

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets

at beginning of year $    13.2 $   14.3

Actual return on plan assets .1 .1

Employer contributions 26.9 26.4

Plan participants’ contributions 24.4 28.0

Benefits paid (51.8) (55.6)

Fair value of plan assets

at end of year $    12.8 $   13.2

Funded status at end of year $(190.9) $(201.7)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss 58.2

Unrecognized prior service benefit (1.9)

Net amount recognized $(190.9) $(145.4)

Amounts recognized in the

consolidated balance sheets consist of:

Other accrued liabilities $  (21.8) $    –00

Long-term postretirement liabilities (169.1) (145.4)

Total funded status $(190.9) $(145.4)

Accumulated other comprehensive

loss, net of tax:

Net loss $    54.0 –00

Prior service (benefit) (.5) –00

–
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Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2006, 2005

and 2004, follows:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2006 2005 2004

Interest cost $12.7 $13.4 $14.0

Expected return on assets (.5) (.4) (.4)

Amortization of prior service benefit (1.9) (2.0) (2.0)

Recognized net actuarial loss 5.0 5.1 4.1

Net periodic benefit cost $15.3 $16.1 $15.7

Weighted-average assumptions
used to determine net periodic
postretirement benefit cost for
the years ended December 31
were as follows:

Discount rate 6.46% 6.51% 6.74%

Expected return on plan assets 6.75% 6.75% 6.75%

Weighted-average assumptions

used to determine benefit obligation

at December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate 6.58% 6.46% 6.51%

The expected pretax amortization in 2007 of net periodic

postretirement benefit cost is as follows:  net loss, $5.1

million; and prior service credit, $(.1) million.

The plan assets are invested as follows: 49% debt securities,

46% insurance contracts and 5% cash. The company reviews

its asset allocation periodically, taking into consideration plan

liabilities, plan payment streams and then-current capital mar-

ket assumptions. The company sets the long-term expected

return on asset assumption, based principally on the long-term

expected return on debt securities. These return assumptions

are based on a combination of current market conditions,

capital market expectations of third-party investment advisors

and actual historical returns of the asset classes.

The company expects to contribute approximately $30 million

to its postretirement benefit plan in 2007.

Assumed health care cost trend 

rates at December 31 2006 2005

Health care cost trend rate

assumed for next year 9.8% 11.4%

Rate to which the cost trend

rate is assumed to decline

(the ultimate trend rate) 5.0% 5.0%

Year that the rate reaches

the ultimate trend rate 2014 2014

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care

cost trend rates would have the following effects

(in millions of dollars):

1-Percentage- 1-Percentage- 
Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on interest cost $ .6 $   (.5)

Effect on postretirement

benefit obligation 9.7 (8.7)

As of December 31, 2006, the following benefits are expected

to be paid to or from the company’s postretirement plan:

Year ending December Gross Medicare Gross Expected
31 (millions) Part D Receipts Payments

2007 $  4.5 $ 29.6

2008 4.4 29.5

2009 4.5 30.4

2010 4.4 28.9

2011 4.4 29.2

2012 - 2016 15.7 103.0

The incremental effect of applying SFAS No. 158 on individual

line items in the company’s consolidated balance sheet at

December 31, 2006 was as follows:

(millions) Adjustments

Prepaid postretirement

assets $1,345.4 $(1,095.3) $  250.1

Deferred income taxes, net 123.8 34.1 157.9

Other long-term assets 119.7 (2.4) 117.3

Other accrued liabilities 1,472.2 (3.1) 1,469.1

Long-term postretirement

liabilities 408.4 259.3 667.7

Accumulated other

comprehensive gain (loss) (306.2) (1,319.8) (1,626.0)
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19. Stockholders’ equity

The company has 720.0 million authorized shares of common

stock, par value $.01 per share, and 40.0 million shares of

authorized preferred stock, par value $1 per share, issuable

in series.

At December 31, 2006, 69.1 million shares of unissued

common stock of the company were reserved principally for

stock-based incentive and savings plans. 

Comprehensive income (loss) for the three years ended

December 31, 2006, includes the following components:

Year ended December 31

(millions) 2006 2005 2004

Net income (loss) $ (278.7) $(1,731.9) $38.6

Other comprehensive

income (loss)

Cash flow hedges

Income (loss), net of tax

of $(.3), $1.9 and $(4.1) (1.1) 3.7 (7.6)

Reclassification adjustments, 

net of tax of $.3, $- and $5.7 1.0 (.1) 10.7

Foreign currency translation

adjustments (5.8) 8.9 43.5

Postretirement adjustments,

net of tax of $(40.9), $(35.3)

and $15.7 1,544.6 147.1 (39.2)

Total other comprehensive

income (loss) 1,538.7 159.6 7.4

Comprehensive income (loss) $1,260.0 $(1,572.3) $46.0

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of

December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, is as follows

(in millions of dollars):

Total

Balance at

Dec. 31, 2003 $(2,011.9) $(679.7) $(6.6) $(1,325.6)

Change during period 7.4 43.5 3.1 (39.2)

Balance at

Dec. 31, 2004 (2,004.5) (636.2) (3.5) (1,364.8)

Change during period 159.6 8.9 3.6 147.1

Balance at

Dec. 31, 2005 (1,844.9) (627.3) .1 (1,217.7)

Change during period 1,538.7 (5.8) (.1) 1,544.6

Adoption of

SFAS No. 158 (1,319.8) (1,319.8)

Balance at

Dec. 31, 2006 $(1,626.0) $(633.1) $     – $ (992.9)

Translation
Adjustments

Cash Flow
Hedges

Postretirement
Plans

UnisysAR_06.qxd:Layout 1  2/23/07  10:24 AM  Page 54



Report of Management on the Financial Statements
The management of the company is responsible for the integrity of its financial statements. These statements have been prepared

in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and include amounts based on the best estimates and judgments

of management. Financial information included elsewhere in this report is consistent with that in the financial statements.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the company’s financial statements. Its accom-

panying report is based on audits conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board (United States).

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent directors, oversees management’s

responsibilities in the preparation of the financial statements and selects the independent registered public accounting firm,

subject to stockholder ratification. The Audit Committee meets regularly with the independent registered public accounting firm,

representatives of management, and the internal auditors to review the activities of each and to assure that each is properly

discharging its responsibilities. To ensure complete independence, the internal auditors and representatives of Ernst & Young LLP

have full access to meet with the Audit Committee, with or without management representatives present, to discuss the results

of their audits and their observations on the adequacy of internal controls and the quality of financial reporting.

Joseph W. McGrath Janet Brutschea Haugen

President and Senior Vice President and

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the Financial Statements
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Unisys Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Unisys Corporation as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,

and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of Unisys Corporation’s management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits

provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position

of Unisys Corporation at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each

of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, Unisys Corporation adopted Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Shared-Based Payment.” Also, as discussed in Note 6 to the consoli-

dated financial statements, Unisys Corporation adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158,

“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans – An Amendment of FASB No. 87, 88, 106 and

132(R)”, as of December 31, 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),

the effectiveness of Unisys Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria

established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission and our report dated February 20, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 20, 2007 55
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Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of Unisys Corporation (the company) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control

over financial reporting. The company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies

and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded

as necessary to permit preparation of the financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles,

and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management

and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006,

based on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued

by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, we assert that the

company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the specified criteria.

Ernst & Young LLP, an Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, has audited the company’s consolidated financial

statements and has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of the company’s internal control over

financial reporting which appears on the following page.

Joseph W. McGrath Janet Brutschea Haugen

President and Senior Vice President and

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Unisys Corporation

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

appearing on page 56 that Unisys Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,

2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Unisys Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining

effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the

company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal

control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effective-

ness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe

that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S.

generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and

procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions

and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary

to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts

and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,

or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Unisys Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31, 2006 is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Unisys

Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006,

based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),

the consolidated balance sheets of Unisys Corporation as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated

statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006

and our report dated February 20, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 20, 2007
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Unisys Corporation
Supplemental Financial Data (Unaudited)
Quarterly financial information

(millions, except per share data) First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Year

2006

Revenue $1,387.8 $1,407.3 $1,410.1 $1,552.0 $5,757.2

Gross profit 201.9 162.9 258.7 386.1 1,009.6

Income (loss) before income taxes (35.2) (203.5) (61.5) 49.3 (250.9)

Net income (loss) (27.9) (194.6) (77.5) 21.3 (278.7)

Earnings (loss) per share – basic (.08) (.57) (.23) .06 (.81)

– diluted (.08) (.57) (.23) .06 (.81)

Market price per share – high 7.20 7.08 6.44 7.87 7.87

– low 5.77 5.92 4.72 5.53 4.72

2005

Revenue $1,366.6 $1,435.5 $1,387.1 $1,569.5 $5,758.7

Gross profit 260.3 277.4 246.0 377.7 1,161.4

Income (loss) before income taxes (78.3) (39.8) (80.0) 27.2 (170.9)

Net loss (45.5) (27.1) (1,628.2) (31.1) (1,731.9)

Loss per share – basic (.13) (.08) (4.78) (.09) (5.09)

– diluted (.13) (.08) (4.78) (.09) (5.09)

Market price per share – high 10.24 7.54 7.15 6.84 10.24

– low 6.64 6.09 6.13 4.38 4.38

In the first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2006, the company recorded pretax restructuring charges of $145.9 million, $141.2 million,
$36.4 million and $6.6 million, respectively.  In the first quarter of 2006, the company recorded a pretax gain of $149.9 million on the sale of
NUL and a $45.0 million curtailment gain. See Notes 3, 10 and 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

In the third quarter of 2005, the company recorded an increase in its valuation allowance for deferred tax assets resulting in a non-cash charge
of $1,573.9 million, or $4.62 per share.  See Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The individual quarterly per-share amounts may not total to the per-share amount for the full year because of accounting rules governing the
computation of earnings per share.

Market prices per share are as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange composite listing.
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Five-year summary of selected financial data

(dollars in millions, except per share data) 2006(1) 2005(2) 2004(1) (3) 2003 2002

Results of operations

Revenue $5,757.2 $5,758.7 $5,820.7 $5,911.2 $5,607.4

Operating income (loss) (326.8) (162.4) (34.8) 427.7 423.2

Income (loss) before income taxes (250.9) (170.9) (76.0) 380.5 332.8

Net income (loss) (278.7) (1,731.9) 38.6 258.7 223.0

Earnings (loss) per share

Basic (.81) (5.09) .12 .79 .69

Diluted (.81) (5.09) .11 .78 .69

Financial position

Total assets $4,037.9 $4,028.9 $5,620.9 $5,469.6 $4,981.4

Long-term debt 1,049.1 1,049.0 898.4 1,048.3 748.0

Stockholders’ equity (deficit) (64.2) (32.6) 1,506.5 1,395.2 856.0

Stockholders’ equity (deficit) per share (.19) (.10) 4.46 4.20 2.62

Other data

Capital additions of properties $ 70.1 $ 112.0 $ 137.0 $ 116.7 $ 100.9

Capital additions of outsourcing assets 81.0 143.8 177.5 176.2 160.9

Investment in marketable software 105.4 125.7 119.6 144.1 139.9

Depreciation and amortization

Properties 120.5 120.7 136.5 144.4 125.2

Outsourcing assets 135.1 128.8 123.3 82.3 64.9

Amortization of marketable software 132.9 124.7 134.2 123.6 121.0

Common shares outstanding (millions) 345.4 342.2 337.4 331.9 326.2

Stockholders of record (thousands) 22.9 24.1 25.2 26.3 27.3

Employees (thousands) 31.5 36.1 36.4 37.3 36.4

(1) Includes pretax cost-reduction charges of $330.1 million and $82.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2004, respectively.

(2) Includes an increase in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets resulting in a non-cash charge of $1,573.9 million.

(3) Includes a pretax impairment charge of $125.6 million and favorable income tax audit settlements of $97.0 million.

59

UnisysAR_06.qxd:Layout 1  2/23/07  10:24 AM  Page 59



60

Unisys Corporation
Stock Performance Graph
The following graph compares the yearly percentage change in the cumulative total stockholder return on Unisys common

stock during the five fiscal years ended December 31, 2006, with the cumulative total return on the Standard & Poor’s 500

Stock Index and the Standard & Poor’s 500 IT Services Index. The comparison assumes $100 was invested on December 31,

2001, in Unisys common stock and in each of such indices and assumes reinvestment of any dividends.
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Investor Information
Stock Information

Common Stock

The company has 720.0 million authorized shares of common
stock, par value $.01 per share. At December 31, 2006, there
were 345.3 million shares outstanding and about 22,900
stockholders of record. Unisys common stock (trading symbol
“UIS”) is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange
and the London Stock Exchange.

Preferred Stock 

The company has 40.0 million shares of authorized preferred
stock, par value $1 per share, issuable in series. At
December 31, 2006, there were no shares of preferred stock
outstanding.

Voting Rights

Each share of Unisys common stock outstanding on the
record date for the annual meeting is entitled to one vote on
each matter to be voted upon at the meeting.

Annual Meeting
Stockholders are invited to attend the Unisys 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, which will be held at The Hilton Inn
at Penn, 3600 Sansom Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, on
Thursday, April 26, 2007, at 9:30 a.m. Formal notice of the
meeting, along with the proxy statement and proxy materials,
was mailed or otherwise made available on or about March 15,
2007, to stockholders of record as of February 28, 2007.

General Investor Inquiries and
Correspondence
Investors with general questions about the company are invit-
ed to contact Unisys Investor Relations at 215-986-6999 or
investor@unisys.com.

Direct investor correspondence to:

Jack F. McHale 
Vice President, Investor Relations
Unisys Corporation
Unisys Way
Blue Bell, PA 19424

Investor Web Site
Unisys makes investor information available on its Web site at
www.unisys.com/investor. This site is updated regularly and
includes quarterly earnings releases, key management presen-
tations, a delayed Unisys stock quote, officer biographies, cor-
porate governance information, key publications such as the
annual report, and other information useful to stockholders.

Company Financial Information
Unisys offers a telephone information service that provides
fast, convenient access to company financial news.
Stockholders can use this service to call seven days a week,
24 hours a day, to hear the most current financial results and
other general investor information. Callers also can use this
service to request a printed copy of the current quarterly
earnings release by fax or mail.

• In the U.S. and Canada, call 1-800-9-UNISYS (986-4797)
• Outside the U.S., call +402-573-3678

Several publications that contain information of interest to
investors and potential investors are also available via written
or telephone request. These publications include:

• 2006 and previous-year annual reports
• Forms 10-K and 10-Q filed with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission
You can obtain these publications without charge via the
Unisys Investor Web site or by contacting:

Investor Relations, A2-17
Unisys Corporation
Unisys Way
Blue Bell, PA 19424
215-986-5777

Stockholder Services
The Bank of New York is the company’s stock transfer agent
and registrar. Administrative inquiries relating to stockholder
records, lost stock certificates, change of ownership or
address, or the exchange of PulsePoint Communications
common stock certificates should be directed to:

The Bank of New York
Shareholder Services Department
P.O. Box 11258
Church Street Station
New York, NY 10286

Phone toll free: 866-405-6564  (in the U.S. and Canada)
Outside the U.S.: 212-815-3700
Internet: www.stockbny.com
E- mail: shareowner-svcs@bankofny.com

Independent Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Statements made by Unisys in this annual report that are
not historical facts, including those regarding future perform-
ance, are forward-looking statements under the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements
are based on current expectations and assumptions and
involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ from expectations. These risks and uncer-
tainties are discussed in the Management’s Discussion and
Analysis section under Factors that may affect future results.
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Unisys, the Unisys logo and ClearPath are registered trademarks, and 3D Visible Enterprise and 3D-VE are
trademarks of Unisys Corporation. All other brands, logos and products referenced in this annual report are
acknowledged to be trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective holders.

Printed in the United States of America 3/07
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